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THE BOOK, &e.
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COPY OF HIS MAJESTY'S COMMISSION,

: Grorce R.

Whereas our right trusty and well-beloved Coun-
cillor, Tuomas Lord Erskixg, our Chancellor, has
this day laid before us an Abstract of certain writ-
ten declarations touching the conduct ef her Royal
Highuess the Princess of Wares, we do hereby
authorise, empower, and direct the said Tuomas
Lord Ensking, our Chancellor ; our right trusty
and well-beloved Cousin and Councillor Groree
Joux Earl SpeNcer, one of our Principal Secre-
taries of State; our right trusty and well-beloved
Councillor W. Winpuan Lord GrRENvILLE, First
Commissioner of our Treasury; and our right trusty
and well-beloved Councillor, Epw. Lerd EcrLexno-
rouveH, our Chief Justice, to hold pleas before our
self, to enquire into the truth of the same, and to
examine, upon oath, such persons as they shall see
fit touching and concerning the same, and to report
to us the result of such examination.

Given at our Castle of Windsor, on 29th May, in
the 46Gth year of our Reign. - GiR.-

-
—_— =

COPY OF THE DEPO3S!ITION OF CHARLOTTE
LADY DOUGLAS, i
I think I first became acquainted with the Princess
of Wales in 1801. Sir John Douglas had a house at
Blackbeath, One day in November, 1801, the snow
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was lying on the ground. The Princess and a Lady,
who, I believe, was Miss lleyman, came on foot,

and walked swurﬂl times before the door. I.-m:l_',r
Stewart was with me, and said, she thought that the
Princess wanted something, and that I ought to go
to her. 1 went to her. She said, she did not want
any thing but she would walk in ; that I had a very
pretty little girl. She came in and staid some time.
About a fortnight after Sir J. D. and 1 received an
invitation to go to Moatague-house, after that [ was
very f'requenlly at Montague-house, and diued there.
The Princess dined fr equl:utl}r with us, About May
or Juue, 1802, the Priuncess. first talked to me about
her owu {:ﬂnrluci. Sir S. Smith, who had been Sir
John’s friend for more than 20 years, came to LEng-
land about November, 1801, and came to live in our
Louse. , I understood the Princess knew Sir Sydney
Smith bLefore she was Princess of Wales. The
Princess saw Sir S. Smith as Irequently as ourselves.
‘We-were usually kept at Montague-house later than
the rest of the party, often till three or four in the
morning. I never observed any impropriety of con-
duct between Sir 8. Smith and the Princess, 1 made the
Princess a visit at Montague-house, in March 1802,

fur about a fortnight. She desired me to come there

because Miss Garth was ill. In May or June follow-
- ing, the Princess came to my house alone : she said
she came to tell me something that had happened to
her,and desired me to guess. Igucssed several things,
and at last I said, 1 counld not guess any thing more.
She then said she ‘was pregnant, and that the child
had come to life. = I don’t know whether she said on
that dayor a few: days before, that she was at break-
fast at Lady Willoughby’s, that the milk flowed up
to her breast and came through her gown ; that she
threw a napkin over herself and went with Lady
Willoughby .into her roem, and adjusted hersell o
prevent its being observed. She never told me who
was the father of the child. She «aid she hoped it
would be a boy. She said that if it was discovered
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she would give the Prince of Wales the credit of
being the father, for she had slept two nights at
Carlton-house within the year. I said that I should
co abroad to my mother. The Princess said she
should manage it very well, and if things came to the
worst, she should give the Prince the credit of it.—
While I was at Montague-house, in March, I was
with child, and one day I said I was very sick, and
the Princess.desired Mrs, Sander to get me a saline
draught. She then said that she was very sick her-
self, and that she would take a saline draught too.
I observed, that she could not want one, and I
looked at her. The Princess said, yes, I do. What
do you look at me for with your wicked eyes; you
are always finding me out.  Mrs. Sander looked
very much distressed ; she gave us a saline draught
each.. This was the first time I had any suspicion of
her being with child. The Princess never said who
was the father 7 When she first told me she was with
child, I rather suspected that Sir S. Smith was the
father, but only because the Princess was very par-
tial to him. I never knew he was with her alone.—
We had constant intercourse with the Princess, from
the time when I was at Montague-house, till the end
of October. After she had first communicated te me
that she was with child, she frequently spoke upon
the subject. She was bled twice during the time.—
She recommended me to be bled too, and said that it
made her have a better time, Mr. Edmeads bled
her ; she said, one of the days that Mr. lidmeads
bled her, that she had a violent heat in her blood,
and that Iidmeads should bleed her. I told the
Princess that I was very anxious how she would
manage to be brought to bed, without its being
known; that I hoped she had a safe person. She
said yes, that she should have a person from
abroad ; that she had a great horror of having any
men about her upon such an occasion—she saia, I
am confident in my own plans, and I wish you would
not speak to me on that subject again. She said, 1
A3
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shall tell every thing to Sander. I think this was
on the day on which she told me of. what had hap-
pened at Lady Willoughby’s—Sander was a very
good woman, and might be trusted, and that she
must be with her at the labour ; that she would send
Miss Garth to Brunswick, and Miss Milfield was
too youog to be trusted, and must be sent out of the
way. 1 was brought to bed on the 23d of July,
1802. The Princess insisted on being present.—
I determined that she should not, but I meant to
avoid it without offending her. On the day on
which 1 was brought to bed, she came to my house
and insisted on coming in. Dr. Mackie, who at-
tended me, locked the door on the opposite side
of the , but there was another door on the
opposite side of the room, which was not locked, and
she came in at that door, and was present during the
time of the labour and took the child as soon as
it was born, and said she was very glad she had
seen the whole of it. The Princess’s preguancy
appeared to me to be very visible. She wore a cushion
behind and made ‘Mrs. Sander make one for me.
Daring my lying-in the Princess came oue day with
Mrs. Fitzgerald. She sent Mrs. F. away, aund took
a chair, and sate by my bedside. She said you will
hear of my taking children in baskets, but you wen’t
take any notice of it. Ishall have them brought by
.4 poor woman in a basket. I shall do it as a cover
to have my own brought to me in that way ; or, that
is the way in which I must have my own brought
when I have it. Very soon after this two children,
who were twins, were brought by a poor woman in a
basket. 'The Princess took them, and had them car-
ried up iuto her room, and the Princess washed
them herself. The Princess told me this herself.
The father a few days afterwards, came and insist-
ed on having the children, and they were given to
him. The Princess afterwards said to me, *“ You
see | took the children, and it answered very well.”
The father had got them back, and she could not
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blame him : that she should take other chiidren, and
have quite a nursery. Fsaw the Princess on a Sun-
day, either the 30th or 31st October, 1802, walking
before her door. She was dressed so as to conceal
her pregnancy. She hada long cloak, and a very
great muff. She had just returned from Greenwich
Church. She looked very ill, and I thought must be
very near her time.

About a week or ten days after this, I received a
note from the Princess, to desire that I would not
come to Moutague House, for they were apprehen-
sive that the children they had taken had had the
measles in their clothes, and that she was afraid my
child might take it. When the Princess came to see
me during my lying-in, she told me that, when she
should be brought to bed, she wished I would not
come to her for some time, for she might be confused
in seeing me. About the end of December I went to
Gloucestershire, and stayed there about a month,
When I returned, which was in January, I went to
Montague House, and was let in. The Princess was
packing up something in a black box. Upon the sofa
a child was lying, covered over with a piece of red
cloth. The Princess got up, and took me by the
hand. She then led me to the sefa, and said, there
is the child, I had him only two days after I saw

you. The words were, either 1 had him, or I was

brought to bed : the words were such as clearly im-
ported that it was her own child. She said she got
very well through it ; she showed me a mark on the
child’s hand, it is a pink mark. The Princess said, she
has a mark like yourlittle girl. I saw the child after-

wards frequently with the Princess quite till Christ-

mas, 1803, when I left Blackheath, I saw the maik
upon the child’s hand, and I am sure that it was the
same child, I never saw any other child there. The
Princess Charlotte used to see the child and play with
him. The child used to call the Princess of Wales
¢ Mamma.” I saw the child looking at the window
of the Princess’s house about a month ago, before

e
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the Princess wentinto Devonshire, and I am sure that
it is the same child. Not long after I had first seen
the child, the Princess said, that she had the child at
first to sleep with her for a few nighis ; but it made
her nervous, and now they had got a regular nurse
for her.

bhe said, we gave it a little wilk at first, but it
was too much for me, and now we breed it by hand,
and it does very well. I can swear positively that
the child I saw at the window is the same child as
the Princess told me she had two days after she
parted with me. The child was called William. I
never heard that it had any other name. When the
child was in long clothes, we breakfasted one day
with the Princess, and she said to Sir John Douglas,
This is the Deptford boy. Independently of the
Princess’s confession to me, I can swear that she was
pregnant in 1802. Ia October, 1804, when we re-
turned from Devonshire, I left my card at Montague
House, and on the 4th of Octeber I received a letter
from Mrs. Vernon, desiring me not to comeany more
to Montague House. I had never, at this time, men-
tioned the Princess’s ‘being with child, or being deli-
vered of a child, to any person, not even to Sir John
Douglas. After receiving Mrs. Vernon’s letter, I
wrote to the Princess on the subject. The letter was
sent back unopened. I then wrote to Mrs. Fitzge-
rald, saying, that I thought myself extremely ill used.
In two or three days after this, I received an anony«
mous, which I produce, and have marked with the
letter A, and signed with my name, both on the let-
ter and the envelope. The Princess of Wales has
told me, that she got a bed-fellow whenever she
could, that nothing was mere wholesome : she said,
that nothing was more convenient than her own room
—it stands at the head of the staircase which leads
into the Park, and I have bolts in the inside, and
~ have a bed-fellow whenever I like. I wonder you
can be satisfied only with Sir John. She said this
~mere than once. She has told me that Sir Sydney



 ?
®mith had lain with her. That she believed all men
liked a bed-fellow, but Sir Sydney better than any
body else ; that the Prince was the most complaisant
man in the world ; that she did what she liked, went
where she liked, had what bed-fellow she liked, and

the Prince paid for all.
(Signed) CHARLOTTE DOUGLAS,
June 1, 1806.

Sworn befors us, June 1st, 1806,
at Lord Grenville's, Downing-
street, YWestminster,
(Signed) TERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGIL

—-——

THE DEPOSITION OF SIR JOHN DOUGLAS, KNT.

I had a house at Blackheath, in 1801. Sir Sydney.
used to come to my house. I had a bed for him.—
The Princess of Wales formed an acquaintance with
Lady Douglas, and came frequently to our house.—
I thought she cathe more for Sir Sydney Smith than
for us. After she had been some time acquainted
with us, she appeared to me to be with child. One °
day she leaned on the sofa, and put her hand upon
her stomach, and said,—Sir John, I shall never be
Queen of England.—I said, Not if you don’t de-
serve it. She seemed angry at first. 1In 1804, on
the 27th of October, I received two ' letters by the
twopenny post, oune addressed to me, which 1 now
preduce, and have marked with the letter B.both on |
the envelope and the enclosure, and the other letter
addressed to Lady Douglas, and which I now pro-
dace, and have marked with the letter C. both on

the envelope and the enclosure.
(Signed) JOHN DOUGLAS,
June 1,
Sworn before us, at Lord Grenville's
House, in Downing-street, West-
minster, June 1, 1806s
(Signed)  ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGRGII.

e —
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THE DEPOSITION OF ROBERT BIDGOOD,

L haye lived with the Prince 23 years next September 3 1
went to the Princess in March, 1798, and have lived with her
Royal Highness ever since,  About the year 1802, early in that
E.ar. I first observed Sir Sydney Suiith come to ) ontague
touse ; he used to stay very late at night ; 1 have seen him carly
10 the morning there, about ten or eﬁwen. o'clock. He was at
Sir John Douglas’s ; 1 was in the habit, as well as Sir John and
Lady Douglas, of dining, or having Juncheon, or supping there
almost every day. 1 saw Sir Sydney Smith one day in 1802, in
the blue room, about eleven o'clock in the morning, which is
full two hoursbhefore we ever expected (o sce company. 1 ask-
ed the servanis why they did ot let me know that he was there ?
The footman informed me that they had let no person in. There
was a private door to the FPark, by which he might have come
inif be had a key to it, and have gone into the blue room with-
out any of the servaunts perceiving him, I never observed any
appearance of the Princess which could lead me to suppose that
she was with child. T first obs rved Captain Manby come to
Montagne House either in the end of 1803 or the beginning of
¥804. T was waiting one duy in the anti-room, Captain Manby
had his hat in his hand, aud appeared to be going away ; he
wasa long time with the Princess, and as I stood on the steps
waiting, looked into the roum in which they were,-ami
i the reflection in the looking-glass, 1 saw them salute each
other; 1 meage, that they kissed each other’s lijs. Captain
Manby then went away, [ tien observed the Princess have her
handkerchief in her hands, and wipe ber eses as if she was cry-
ing, and she went into the drawing-room. The Princess went
to Southend in RMay, 1504; I went with her. We were there
I believe, ahout six weeks before the African came in. Eicani
Wwas very olblen watching with a glass to see when the ship would
arrive, Oine day be said ke saw the African, and soen after the
Captain put o in a boat from the ship. Sicard went down the
shrubbery to meet him. When the Captain came on shore, Si-
card condacled him to the Princess’s house, and he dined there
with the Princess and her Ladies, After this he came very fre-
tgmn[ly to see the Princess, The Princess had two houses on
the Cliff, Nos. 8 and 9. Sheafterwards took the drawing-room
of He. 7, which communicated by the baicony with No. 8, the
three houses being adioiving. The Princess used to dine in
No. 8, and after dinner to remeve with the company into No, 7,
and 1 have several times seen the Princess, after having gone_in-
to No, 7 with Captain Manby and the rest of the company, re-

-~ tire alone with Captain Manby from No, 7 to No. 8§ inlo No. 9,

which was the house in which the Princess slept; 1 suspected
that Captain Manby siept frequently in the house. It was a
subject of conversation in the honse. Hiats were given by the
servants, and 1 believe that others suspected it as well as myself,

The Princess took a child, which I understood was breught

into the house by Stikeman I waited only one week in three, and -

1 was not there at the time the child was brought, but '[ saw it
there early in 1803. The child who is now with the Princess is
the same as | saw there early in 1803; it has a mark on its left
band, Austinis the name of the man who was said to be the father.
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Austin’s wife is, I believe, still alive. She has had another
child, and has brought it sometimes to Meutague Huuse.‘ Itis
very like the child who lives with the Princess. Mrs, Gordon
was employed as a nurse for the child, and she used (o bring the
child to the Princess as soon as the Princess awoke, and the
child used to stay with her Royal Highness the whole morning.
The Princess appeared te be extremely fond of the child, and
stiil appears so,

(Signed) . R. BIDGGOD,
Sworn at Lord Grenville's House, in Down- a
ing-street, the 6th day of June, 1806,
(Signed) SPENCER,
GRENVILLE.

THE DEPOSITION OF WILLIAM COLE.

1 have lived with the Princess of Wales ever since her mar-
riaze. Sir-8vdney Smith first visited at Montague House, ahout
1802, I have observed the Princess to befamiliar with Sir Syd-
ney Smith, One day, 1 thiak about 'ebruary in that year, the
Princess ordered some sandwiches ; 1 carried them iuto ti:e blue
room o ber. Sir Sydney Smith was there ; 1 was surprised to
see him there, bhe must iave come in frem the Park ; it he had
been let in from Blackbeath, he must have. passed through the
roow in which 1 was waiting. When I had left the sandwiches,
1 returned, afier some time, into the room, and Sir Sydney
Smith was sitting very close to the Princess, on the sofa, I
looked at wi . and at her Royal Highness.  She cauglit my eye,
and saw that 1 noticed the manner tn which they were sitting to-
gether., ‘Toey appeared both a little confused when 1 cawe into
the room. - A short time befire s, one night, about 12 o’clock,
I saw a (nan go into the bouse frem the Park, wrapped up ina
great co.t, 1 did not give any ularmy for the impression on my
micd was that ¥-was not a wief, Soon aftep I bad seen the
Priscess and Sir Siduey Smiin sitting together on the sofa: the
Duke of Kentsent for me, and wld we, Lont the Princess wouled
be very glad it 1 would do the duty in town, because she had
Lusiness 10 do in town which she would rather trust to me than
any h‘ﬂ_‘r else.,

The Dukesaid, that the Princess had thought it would be
more agreeable to me to be told this by him than through Sis
card, Aflier this { never attended at Montague-house, but ocs
casionally, when the Princesssent for me.  About July, 1802,
I observed that the Princess had grown very lurge, and in the
latterend of the same year she appeared to be grown thin; and
I observed (o Miss Sander, who said that the Princess was
much thinner than she had been, 1 had not any idea of the
Princess being with child. Mr. Lawreoce, the painter, used
to 20 to Montague-ionse, abowt the latter end of 1801, when he
tﬁugmrnn{.z. Lie Princess and he have slept in the house two
or three mghts togeiher. 1 habe often scen him alone with the
I_ riucess at eleven and twelve o'eclock at night, 1le has Leen
there a4 late as one or twe o'cloele iu the morning, One nicht ¥
sAw him with the Princess in the blue room, after the Ladies had
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retired. Some time afterward, when T supposed that he had
ﬁlune to his room, I went to see that all was safe, and 1 found
the blue room door locked, and heard a whispering in it, and 1
went away, (Signed) lWM. COLE.
Sworn at Lord Grenville’s House, in
Downing-street, June 6, 1808,
(Signed) SPENCER,
GRENVILLE.

————

THE DEPOSITION OF FRANCES LLOYD,

I have lived twelve years with the Princess of Wales next
October. 1 am in the coffee-room ; my situation in the coffee-
room does not give me opportunities of seeing the Princess, 1
do not see her sometimes for months, Mr, Milles attended me
for a cold. He asked me if the Princess came to Blackheath
backwards and forwards, or something to that effect, for the
Princess was with child, or looked as if she was with
child. This must have been three or four years ago.—
It may have been five years ago. I think it must have
been some time before the child was brought to the Princess.
I remember the child being brought, it was brought inte my
room. I bad orders sent to me to give the mother arrow-root,
with directions how to make it, to wean the child, and I gave it
to the mother, and she took “the child away ; afterwards the .
mother.brought the child back again. Whether it was a week,
ten days, or a fortnight, 1 cannot say, but it might be about that
time. The second time the mother brought the child, she brought
it into my room ; 1 asked how a mother could part with her
child. 1 am not sure which time I asked this. The mother -
cried, and said she could not afford to keep it. The child was
said to be about four months old when it was brought. I did not
particularly observe it myself, _

(Signed) FRANCES LLOYD.
X %o

1 was at Ramsgate with the Princess in 1803.—One morning
avhen we were in the house at East Cliff, somebody, 1 do not
recollect who, knocked at ‘my door, ard desired me to get up,
to prepare breakfast for the Princess; this was about six
o'clock ; 1 wasaslee{:. During the whole time I was in the
Princess’s service I had never been called up before, to make
breakfast for the Princess. 1 slept in the Housekeeper's-room,
on the ground-floor ; 1 opened the shutters of the windows far
licht, 1 knew at tliat time that Capt. Manby’s ship was in the
Dowuns. When I opened the shutters, 1saw the Princess walk-
ing down the garden with a gentleman ; she was walking down
the gravel-walk towards the sea. Noorders had been given
overnight to prepare hreakfastearly. The Gentleman the £rin-
cess was walking with was a tall man ; I was surprised to see
the Princess walking with a Gentleman at that time n the morn-
ing—1I am sure it was the Princess, While we were at Black-
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heath, a woman at Charlton, of the name of Townley, told me
that she had some linen to wash from the Princbss’s house ; that
the liven was marked with the appearance of a miscarriage, or
a delivery. The woman has since left Charlton, but she has
friends there. I think it must have been befure thechild was
brought to the Princess, that the woman told me this. 1 know
all the women in the Princess’s house, 1 don’t think any of them
were ina state of pregnancy, and if any had, I think 1 must
kave known it. | never told Cole, that Mary Wilson, when
she supposed the Princess to be in the Library, had gone into
the Princess's bed-room, and had found a man there at breakfast
with the Princess, or that there was a great deal to do about it,
and that Mary Wilson was sworn to secrecy, and threatened te
be turned away if she divilged what she had seen,
. (Signed) FRANCES LLOXD.
Sworn at Lord Grenville™s lHouse, in Down-
inz-street, June 7, 1806, before us,
(Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, LLLENBOROUGH.

r
—_—

THE DEPCSITION O MARY ANN WILSON,

1 believe it will be ten years next quarter that I have lived
with the Princess. 1 waited on the Ladies who attend the Prin-
cess. 1 remember when the child whao is now with the Princess
was brovglit there, ' Before it came, [ heard say that it was to
come. The mother brought the child. It appeared to be about
four months old when it was Lrought. I resiember twins being
hrought to the Priucess before that child was brouzht, T never
noticed the Princess’s shape to Le diflerent in that year from
what it was before. 1 never had a thought that the Princess
was with child., I think she could not have been with child,
and have gone on to her time, without my knowing it. I was
at soath-end with the Princess.  Captain Manby used to visit
the Princess there. I made the Princess’s bed, and have hecn
in the nalit of maKing it ever since I lived with her Royal ITigh-
pess,  Awmother maid, whese name is Ann Bye, assisted with
me in making the bed. From what I observed, I never had any
reason to believe that two persons had slept in the bed ; 1 never
saw any particular appearance in it.  The linen was washed by

Stikeman's wife,
(Signed) MARY WILSON,
Sworn at Lord Grenville's house, in.Down-
ing-stree!, June 7, 1806, before us,
( Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH.

THE DEPOSITION OF SAMUEL ROBERTS.

I am footman to the Priucess of Wales, I remember the
child being taken by the Princess. I never observed any par-
ticular appearance of the Princess in that year—nothing that

B
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led me o believe that she was with child. Sir Sidnev Smitl:
used to wslt_ the Princess at Blackheath. 1 never saw him alone
with the Princess. He never stayed after eleven o'clock. 1 re-
collect Mr. Cole once asking me, 1 think three vears ago, whe-
ther there were amﬁr‘fmnuriws in the family ? 1 remember say-
mgBthnt Captain Manby and Sir Sidney Smith were frequently
at Blackbeath, and dined there oftener’than any other persons.
1 never knew Sir Sydney Smith to stay later than the Ladies.
T cannot say exactly at what hour he went, but 1 never rememn-
ber his staying alone with the Princess,

(Si%ned} SAMUEL ROBLRTS,
Sworn at Lord Grenville'’s house, in Down-

ing-street, June 7, 1806, before us,
(Fﬁrgued) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGII,

Bt ]

DEPOSITION OF THOMAS STIKERMAN,

1 have been Page to the Princess of Wales ever sioce she has
been in England. When I first saw the child who is with the
Princess, it is about four ycars ago. Her Royal Highiess bad a
strong desire to have an infant, which I and all the house kuew.
I heard there was a woman who had twiss, one of which the
Princess was desirous to have, hot the pareats would not part
with it. A woman came to the door witli a petition to get her
husband replaced in the dock-yard, who had been removed ; she
had a child with her ; I took the child, I believe, and showed it
to Mrs. Sanders. I then returned the child to¢ the woman. 1
made engniries after the father, and afierwards desired the wo-
man to bring the child again to the house, which she did. The
ehild was taken to the Princess ; after the Princess had seen it,
she desired the woman to take it again, and bring i back ina
few days, and Mrs, Sanders was desired to provide linen for it,
Within a few days the child was brought again by the mother,
and wasleft, and has been with the Princess ever since. 1 do
not recollect the child had any mark, but vpon reflection, 1 do
recollect that the mother said he was marked with elder wine on
the hand. The father of the child, whose name is Anstin, lives
with me at Pimlico. My wife isa laundress. and washes the
linen of the Prince. Austin is employed to turn a mangle
for me. The chi'd was born in Brownlow-street. I never
saw the woman to my kuowledge before she came with the
petition to the door. 1 had no parucular directions by
the Princess to procure a child; I thounght it better tu
take the child of persons of good character than the child
of a pauper. Nothing led me, from the appearance of the Prin-
cess, to suppose she was with child ; but from her shape it isdif-
ficult to judge whenshe is with child, “When she was with child
ol the Princess Charlotte, 1 should not have Known it when she
wis far advanced in her time, if I had not heen told it, “Sir
Sydaey Sinith, at one time, visited very frequently at Montague
Tlouse, two or three times a-week, at the time the Princess was
altering lier room in the Turkish style. Sir Sydoey Smith’s
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visits were very frequent. The Princess consulted him upon
them. Mr, Morell was the upholsterer : Siv Sydney Smith came
frequently alone, He staid alone with the Princess sometimes
till eleven o'clock at night, He has been there till twelve
o’clock at night, and after, I believe, alone with the Princess.—
The Princess 1s of that lively yvivacity, that she makes herself fa-
miliar with Gentlemen, which prevented my being struck with
his staying so late. 1 do not believe that at that time any other
Gentlemea visited the Princess so often and stayed so late.
have seen the Princess, when they were alone, sitting with Sir
Sydney Snith on the same sofa, in the blue-room. I had access
to the blue room at all times ; there was an laner room which
opened into the blue room when that room was not lighted up
1 did not go into it. 1 did not consider that I had a right to go
into it. 1 had no idea on what account I was brought here. 1
I did not know that the Princess’s conduct was guestioned, or
questionable. T was with the Princess at Ramsgate ; when she
was at East Cliff, Captain Manby was very frequently there ;
went away as late as eleven e’clock. I de not remember
Fanny Lloyd being ealled up any morning to make break-
fast for the Princess, T did not like Captain Manby's cuminf
so often and staying so late, and I was uneasy at it.
renmember a piece of place, asilver lamp, being sent to Capt.
Manby ; fsaw it in Sicard’s possession ; he told me it was for
Capt, Manby, and ke had a letter to send with it. I have never
seen Capt, Manby at the Princess’s, at Ramsgate, before nine
in the morning, but I have lieard he has been there earlier, 1
bad never any suspicion of there being any thing improper,
either from the frequent visits of Capt. Manhy, or from his
conduct, T was at Cartherington with the Princess; she used
to go out generaily in her own chaise, I think I have once or
twice seen her go o 't with Mr. Hood, in his one-horsk chaise ;
they have heen out for two hours, or twn hours and a half to-
gether. I believe only a day or two elapsed between the time
of the child being first brought and being brought again, and left
with the Princess. I am sure the child was not weaned after it
bad been first brought. I do not recollect any Gentleman ever
sleeping in the house, I do not remember Lawrence, the
painter, ever sleeping there. The Princess seems very fond
of the child ; it is always called William Austin.
(Signed) I'HOS, STIKEMAN.

#worn at Lord Grenville’s House, in Downing-

street, June 7, 1806, before us,

(Signed) LRSKINE, GRENVILLE,

SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH.

]

THE DEPOSITION OF JOHN SICARD.

I have lived seven years with the Princessof Wales, am house-
steward, and have been in that situation from the end of six
months after I first lived with her Royal Highness. 1 remember
the child who is now with the Princess of Wales being brought
there 5 it was about five months old when it was breught, it is
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about four years ago, just Lefore we went to Hamegate, 1 had
not the least suspicion of the ohject of my being rought here, —
I had opportunity of seeipg the Princess frequently 3 1 waited
on her at dinner and supper ; 1 never observed thatthe Princess
had the appearance of being with child ; T think it was hardly
possible that she should have been with child without my per-
ceiving it. Sir Sydney Smith used to visit very frequently at
Montague House, in 1802, with Sir John and Lady Douglas, —
He was very often, I believe, alone with the Princess, and so
was Mr. Canning and other Gentlemen, 1 cannot say that |
ever suspecled Sir Sidney Smith of any improper conduct with
the Princess. I never had any suspicion of the Princess actin
improperly with Sir Sydney Smith, or sny other Gentleman.
remember Captain Manby visiting at Montague -House, The
Princess of Wales did not pay for the expence of fitting up his
cabin, but the linen furniture was ordered by me by (ﬁrectiﬂn
of the Princess, of Newberry and Jones. 1t ‘was put by New-
berry and Jones in the Princess’s bill, and was paid for with the
rest of the bill by Miss Heyman,
: (Signed) JOHN SICARD,

Sworn at Lord Grenville’s House, in Downing- ;

street, this 7th day of June, 18 6, before us,

(Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER. LLLENBOROUGH.

THE DEPOSITION OF CHARLOTTE SANDER.

I have lived with the Princess of Wales eleven years. 1
am a native of Brunswick, and came with the Princess frem
Bruuswick. The Princess has had a iittle boy living with her
under ber protection; he had a mark on bis hand, but it is
worn oft'; 1 first saw him four years ago, in the Autumn:.—
The father and mother of the child arve still alive; 1 have
seen them both ; the father worked in the Dock-yard at Dept-
ford, but he has now lost the use of his limbs ; the father's
mame is Austin. The mother brought the child to the Prin-
cess when he was four months old 1 was present when the
child was brought to the Princess; she was in her own room
up stairs, when the child was brought ; she came out, and took
the child herself. I understood that the child was expected
before it was brought. 1 am sure that T never saw the child
in the house before it appeared to be four months old. The
Princess was not ill or indisposed in the antumn of 15802. 1
was dresser to her Koyal Highness ; she could not be ill or in-
disposed without my knowing it. T am sure that she was uot
confined to her room, or to herbed in that antumn; there was
not, to my knowledge, any other child in the house; it was
hardly possible there could have been a child there without
my knowing it. 1 have no recollection that the Princess had
grown bigger in the year 1802 than usaal; Tam sure the Prin-
€ess was not pregnant; being her dresser I must bave seen 1f,
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if she was, I solemuly and positively swear I have no reasoa
to know or believe that the Princess of Wales has heen
at any time pregnant during the time I have hLved
with her Rl}}'ili [-]._gh[;css at M ontague House.—
I mav have said to Cole, that the Princess was grown much
thinner, but [ do not recollect that I did. I never heard any
hody say any thing about the Princess being pregnant t}'i'l I
came here to-day. [ did not expect to be asked any questions
respecting the Princess being pregnant. Nobody came over
to the Princess from Germany, in the Autumn of 1802, to
my knowledge. Her Royal Highness was generally blooded
twice a-year, but not lately. T never had any rﬁas?n to sup-
pose that the Princess received the visits of any Gentleman
at improper hours, Sir Sydney Smith visited her Frcquent]:_.r,
and almost daily. He was there very late, and sometimes tll.“
two o'clock in the morning. I never saw Sir Sydney Smith in
the room alone with the Princess late at night. 1 never saw
any thing which led me to suppose that Sir Sydoey Smith was
on a very familiar footing with the Princess of Wales. 1 at-
tended the Princess of Wales to Southend. She had two hou-
ses, No. g and No. 8. I knew Captain Manby, he command-
ed tke African; he visited the Princess while his ship was
there, be was frequently with the Princess. 1 do not know
or believe, and I have no reason to believe, that Capt. Manby
stayed till very late hours with the Princess. I never sus-
pected that there was any improper familiarity between them.
I never expressed to any body a wish that Capt. Manby's visits
were not so frequent. I1fthe Princess had company I was never
present. - The Princess was at Ramsgate in 1803 ; | have seen
Captain Manby there frequently. He came to the Prin-
cess’s house to dinner, be never stayed till late at night at the
I'rincess’s house. It was in Devonshire with the Princess
lately, there was no one officer that she saw when she was in
Devonshire mure than the rest. 1 never heard from the
Princess that she apprehended her conduct was questioned.
When I was brought here I thought T might be questioned
respecting the Prince:s’s conduct, and 1 was sorry to come ;
I dont’t know why I thought so, I never saw any thing in the
conduct of the Princess, while I lived with her, which would
have made me nneasy if [ bad been her husband. When I
was at South Ead I dined in the steward’s roomn. I can’t say -
whether [ «ver heard any body in the steward’s room say any
thing about the captain (meaning Captiin Manby); it is so
long ago, | may have forgot it; [ have seen Captain Manby
alone with the Prineess, at No. 9, in the drawing voom, at
Southeud; [ have secn it only once or twice; it was at two
or three o’clock in the afternoon, and never later. I sleptin a
ronm next to the Princess, in the house No. g, at Southend; I
neversawCapt. Manby inany part of that house but the drawing
B3 .
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room ; 1 have no reason to believe hie was in any other room in
the house. I wasat Catherington with the Princess; she was 2t
1. Hood’s house ; I never saw any familiarity hetween hier and
Mr. Hood; I have seen her rive out in Mr. Hood’s carriage
with bim alone ; it was a gig, they used to be absent for seve-
ral hours, a servant of the Princess attended them: I have
delivered packets by the order of the Princess, which she
giave me, sealed up, to Sicard, to he by him forwarded to Cap-
tain Manby. The birth-day of the child who lives with the
Princess is the 11th of July, as his mother told me; sle says
that he was christened at DPeptford. The child had a mark
on the hand, the mother told me that it was from red wine ; I
believe the child came to the Princess in November.
(Signed) C. SANDELR.
Sworn at Lord Grenville's house,
in Downing-stireet, June 7, 1806.
(Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH.

TIIE DEPOSITION OF SOPHIA AUSTIN,

1 know the child which is now with the Princess of Wales; T

, am the mother of it; L wasdelivered of it four years ago, the
11th of next July, at Brownlow-street Hospital. I have lain in
there three times 3 William, who is with the Princess, is the se-
cond child I laid in <f there. It was marked in the right hand
with red wine. My .. jband was a labourer in the dock-yard
at Deptford. When peace was proclaimed a number of the
workmen were discharged, and my hushand was one who was
discharged, I went to the Princess with a pelition on-a Satur-
day, to try to Zetmy hushand restored. 1 lived at that time in
Deptford-new-row, No, 7, with a person of the name of Bear-
block ; he was a milkihan. The day I went to (he Princess
with thé petition was a fortnight before the 6th of November.—
My, Bennet, a baker, in New-street, was our dealer, and 1
took the child to Mr, Bennet’s, when 1 went to receive my
husband’s wages, every weck, from the time Ileft the Hos-
pital till I carried the child to the Princess. 1 knew NMr,
Stikeman only by having seen him once before, when 1
went to apply for a letter to Brownlow-street Hospital, When
1 went to Montague-house, I desired My, Stikeman to present
my petition. He said they were denied to do such thing, hut
seeing me with a baby, he could do no less. He then took the
child from me, and was a long time gone ; he then brought me
back the child, and brought balf a guinea, which the Ladies
gent me. Iiesaid, if the child had been younger, he thought
he could have got it taken care of for me, but desired that I
would come up again; 1 went up again on the Monday follow-
ing, and 1 saw Mr, Siikeman ; Mr. Stikemay afterwards came
several times fo us, and appointed me to lake the child to Mon-
tague-house on the 5th of November, but it rained all day, and
1 did not take it, Mr, Stikeman came down to me on the Sa-
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turday, the 6th of November, and I took the child on that dav
to the Princess’s house. The Princess was out, 1 waited (till
she returned ; she saw the child, and asked its age. 1 went
down into the coflee-room, and they gave me some arrow root
to wean the child, for I was suckling the child at this time, and
when 1 had weaned the child, I was to bring itand leaveit with
the Princess. 1 did wean the child, and brought it to the Pr.n-
cess’s house on the 15th of November, and left it there, and it
has been with the Princess ever since. 1 saw the child last
Whitsun Monday, and I swear that it is my child,
(Signed) SOPHIA AUSTIN,

Sworn at Lord Grenville’s house in Down-

ing-street, the 7th day of June, 1805,

before us,

(Signed) ERSKINE, SPENCER,
GRENVYILLE, LELLENBOROUGH.

——

THE DEPOSITION OF ELIZABETH GOSDEN.

I am the wife of Francis Gesden, who is a servant of the
Princess of Wales, and has lived with her Royal Highness
eleven years. In November, 1802, I was sent for to the Prin-
cess's house to look after a little child. 1 understood that he had
been then nine days in the house. T was nurse to the child.—
One of the Ladies, I think Miss Sander, delivered the child to
me, and told me her Royal IHighness wished me to take care of
him. The child never slept with the Princess, 1 sometimes
nsed to take him to the Princess before she was up, and leave
him with her on the bed. The child had a mark on the hand ; it
appeared (o be astain of wine, but is now worn out, 1 was
aboot a year and three quarters with the child. ‘The mother
used to come often to see him. I never saw the Princess dress
the child, or take off its things herself, buot she has seen medo it.
The child is not so much now with the Princess as he was,

(Signed) ELTZABETH GOSDEN.
Sworn at Lord Grenville’s house, in Down-

ing-street, the 23d day of June, 1806,

before us,

(Sizned) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH.

—

TIHHE DEPOSITION OF BETTY TOWNLEY.

I lived at Charlton sixteen years, and till within the last two
years | wn- 2 laundress, and used to wash linen for the Princess
of Wales’s family. After the Princess left Charlton, and went
to Blackheath, I used to go over to Blackheath and feteh the
lnen to wash. T have hid linen from the Princess’s house the
same as other Ladies, [ mean, that there were such appearances
on it as might arise from patural causes to which women are
subject, 1 never washed the Princess’s own bed-linen, but once
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or twiee occasionally. I recollect one bundle of linen once
coming, which I thought rather more marked than usual. They
told me the Princess had been bled with leechos, and had stained
the linen more. The servants told me =0, but 1 don't remember
who the servunts were that told me so. I recollect once 1 eame
to town and left the linen with my daughter to wazh; 1 looked
at the clothes slowly before I went, and counted them, and my
daughter and a woman she employed with her, washed them,
when I was intown. I thoug!it when I looked them uver, that
there might be something more than usual ; my opinion was,
that it was from a miscarriage, the linen had the appearance of
a miscarringe. I believed it at the time. They were fine da-
mask napkins, and some of them marked with a little red
crown in the corner, and some without warks. 1 might men=-
tion it to F'anny Lioyd, 1 don’t recollect when this was, but it
must be more than two years and a half ago, for 1 did not wash
for the Princess’s fumily hut very little for the last six months.
Mary Wilson used to give me the linen, and I believe it wasshe
who told me the Princess was bled with leeches, but the ap-
earance of the linen which 1 have spokea of Lefore was dif=
erent from that which it was said was stained by bleeding with
leeches. 1 remmember the child coming, I used to wash the
linen for the child ; and Mrs. Gosden, who nursed the child,
used to pny me for it. I Kept a book in which 1 entered the
linen washed. [ am not sure whether 1 have it still, bat if I
have, it is in a chest at my daughter’s, at Charlten, and I will
produce it if I can find it.
(Signed) B. TOWNLEY.
Sworn at Lord Grenville's house, in Down-
ing-street, June 23, 1506, hefore us,
(Sigued) ERSKINL, SPENCER,
GRENVILLE, ELLENBOROUGIH.

———

THE DEPOSITION OF THOMAS ‘-EDMEADS, OF

GREENWICIH, SURGEON AND APOTHECARY.

I am a Surgeon and Apothecary at Greenwich,
and was appointed the Surgeon and Apothecary of
the Princess of Wales in 1801. From that time I
have attended her Royal Highness and her House-
hold. 1 know Fanny Lloyd who attended in the
coffee-room at the Princess’s; 1 have frequently at-
tended her for colds. I do not recollect that I ever
said any thing te her respecting the Princess of
Wales; it never once entered my thoughts, while I
attended the Princess, that <he was pregnant; I
never said that she was so to Fanny Lloyd. I have
bled the Princess twice. The second bleeding was in
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1802, and it was in the June quarter, as appears by
the book I kept. I do not know what she was bled
for; it was at her own desires it was not by ¢ any
med:eeladuee. I was unwilling to do it, but she
wished it. If I recollect, she complained of a pain
in the chest, but I do not remember that she had any
illness. I did not use to bleed her twice a year. -1
certainly saw her Royal Iighness in November,1802;
I saw her oun the 16th of Nevember, but I hed_ not
any idea of her being with child. L did not attend
her on the 16th of November, but I saw her
then. I was visiting a child; a male child, from
Deptford. I have no recollection of having seen
the Princes in October 1802. The child must have
been from three to five months old, when I first saw
it. 1 have no recollection of the Princess having
been ill about the end of Oetehe!, 1802. I have

visited the child very often since, and I have always
understood it to be the same child. The Princess
used sometimes to send for leeches, aud had them
from me. I do not think that [ attended the Princess,
or saw her often in the Summer and Autumn of
1802. | had not the sole care of the Princess’s
health during the time I have spoken of ; Sir Francis

Millman attended her occasionally.
(Signed) THOMAS EDMEADS,

Sworn at Lord Grenvile’s house, in Down-

ing-street, June 25, 1806, before us,
(“-ngntd) 'ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH,

THE DEPOSITION OF SAMUEL GILLAM MILLS, OF
GREELNWICH, SURGLEON,

I am a surgeon at (Jreemﬂeh, have been in part-
nership with Mr. Edmeads since 1800; before he
was my partner [ attended the Princess ‘of Wales’s
family from the time of her coming to Blackheath
from Charlton ; I was appointed by the Princess her
Surgeon in Apnl 1801, by a written appointment,
to take it under her patrpne-'fe the child could just
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and from that time I never attended her Royal Iligh-
ness or any of the servants in my medical capacity,
except that I once attended Miss Garnet, and
once Miss Milfield; there was a child brought to
the Princess when 1 attended her; I was called
upon to examine the child; it was a girl. It
must have been in 1801, or thereabouts. The
child afterwards had the measles, and [ attended
her. When first I saw the child I think it must
have been about ten months old ; it must have been
prior to April, 1801. I understood that the child
was taken through charity. I remember that there
was a female servant who attended in the coilee-
room. 1 never said to that woman, or to any
other person, that the Princess was with child, or
looked as if she was with child ; and I never thought
50, or surmised any thing of the kind. 1 was once
sent for by her Royal Highness to bleed her; I was
not at home, and Mr. Ildmeads bled her. I had bled
her two or three times befere, it was by the direc-
tion of Sir Francis Millman, it was for an inflam-
mation she had on the lungs. As muchas I knew,
it was not usnal for the Princess to be bled twice a
year. I don’t know that any other medical person
attended her at the time that 1 did, nor do I believe
" that there did. 1 don’t know that Sir Francis Mill-
man had advised that she should be blooded at the
time that 1 was seut for, and was net at home, nor
what was the cause of her being then blooded. Ido
recollect something of having attended the servant,
who was in the coffee-room, for a cold ; but I am sure
I never said to her that the Princess was with child,
or looked as if she was so. 1 have known that the
Princess had frequently sent to Mr. Edmead’s for
leeches. When I saw the female child, Miss Sander
was inthe room, and some other servants, but I
don’t recollect who I was sent for to see, whether
there was any disease about the child, to see whether
it was a healthy child, as her Royal Highness meant
wall alone. I saw the child frequently aftewards,
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it was one time with Bidgood, and another time witit
Gosden and his wife. I don’t recollect that the
Princess was by at any time when I saw the child; 1
never saw the child in Montague-house when I at-
tended it asa patient, but when 1 was first sent for
to see if the child had any disease, it was in Montague-

house.
(Signed) SAM. GILLAM MILLS.
Sworn at Lord Grenville's house, in
Downing-street, June 25, 1806,
hefore us, .
(Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH,

THE DEPOSITION OF HARRIET FITZGERALD.

I came first to live with the Princess of Wales in 1801, merely
aca iriend =nd companion, and have continued to live with her
Royal Highiness til\ this time, 1 kpow Lady Douglas; 1 re-
member her Iying-in; it happened by accident that her Royal
Highaess was in the houvse at the time of Lady Douglas’s deli-
very., Ithink it was in July, 1802, 1 was there myself, the
Princess was wot in the rcom at the time Lady Douglas was de-
livered ; there was certainly no appearance of the Princess’s
being y.regnant at (hat time. Isaw the Princess at that time
every day, aud at ail hours, 1 believe it o be quite impossible
that the Princess shouli have been with child without my ob-
serving it. I never was at breakfast with the Princess at Lady
Willoughby's. The Princess iook a little girl into the house
about nine years ago. I was not in the house at the time. 1
was in the nounse :ﬁmn the boy, who is now there, was brought,
She had said before, openly, that she should like to havea
child, =nd she had asked the servant who brought the ciild, if
he knew of any person who would part with a child. 1 was at
Sotuth End with the Princess. T remember Captain Manby
being there sounictimes.  He was not there very often 3 he used
to come at dilferent hours as the tide served ; he dined there,
but never stared late ; 1 was at South Eod altthe time the Prin-
cess was there, 1 cannot recollect that I have seen L‘-upt. Manby
there, or Know him to te there later than nine or halfatter ; never
Knew of any correspopdence by letter with him when he was
abroad. 1don’t recollect to have seen him ever early in the
morning at the Princess’s; I was at Ramsgate with the Princess,
Capt. Manby may have dined there once, he never slept there to
my knowledge, nordo I believe he did. The Princess rises at
different hours, seldom hefore ten or eleven: 1 never knew her
up at six o'clock in the morning. If she had been up so early I
should not have known it, not being up so early myself. 1re-
member the Princess giving Captain !Jianhyam ink-stand. He
nad tne care of two boys, whom she protected. T cannot say
that Captain Manby did not sleep at South End, He may have
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slept in the village, but T believe he never slept in the Princess's
house. | was at Catherington with the Princess, 1 remember
her Royal Highness going out in an open carriage with the pre-
sent Lord Hood ; T belicve Lord Hlood's servant artended them ;
there was only one servant, and no other carriage with them, 1
was at Dawlich the summer with the Princes:, and afterwards
at Mount Edgecombe. The Princess saw a great deal of company
there ; Sir Richard Strachan used to come there, 1 do not knoswy
what was the cause of his discontinning his visits there, 1 re-
- member Sir Sydney Smith being treqeently ar Montague-house
he was sometimes there as late as twelve or one o'clock in the
moraing, but never alone that I kuow of. The Princess was
not in ihe room when Lady Douglas was brought to-bed ; T know
she was not, becavse I was in the room myselfpwhen Lady Doug-
las was delivered. Dr. Machie, of Lewisham, was the accoucher.
1 do not recollect Sir Sydney Smith ever being alone with the
Princess in the evening, It may have happened, but I do not
know that it did. I used to sit with the Princess in the evening,
but not in the morning, I was with the Prince-s in the Isle of
Wight; Mr. Hood and Lord Beauclerk were there with her:
she went there from Portsmouth,

(Signed) HARRIET FITZ GERALD.

Sworn at Lord Grenville's house, in
Downing-sireet, June 27, 1806, be-
fore us,
(Signed) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE.
SPENCER, ELLENDBOROUGH.

= L
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ROBERT BIDGOOD'S FARTIIER DEPOSITION.

The Piincess used Lo go out in her phaeton, with coachman
and helper, towards Long Reach, eight or ten times, carrying
lupcheon and wine with her, when Captain Manby’s ship
lay at Long Reach, always Mrs. Fitzgerald was with her; she
would go antabout one, and retorn about five orsix, sometimes
soaner or later, The day the Africaine sailed from Sowtheend,
the Princess ordered us to pack vp for Blackheath next morning.
Captain Manby was there three times a week, at least, witilst
lis ship lay for six weeks off South-end, at the Nore; he came
as timeserved 3 used (o come in a mor.ing, aud dine, and drink
tea, 1 haveseen him next morning, hy ten o'clock, I suvs-
pected ke slept-at No. 9. The Princess always put out the
candles herself inthe drawing-room, at No. 9, and bid me pot
wa t to put them up, BShe gave me the orders as soon as sue
went to South-end, I used (o see water-jugs, basins, and towels
set out opposite the Princess’s door in. the passage. Never
saw them so left in the passage at any other time. 1
suspecied he was there at those times, and there was a
gemeral suspicion through the house, Mrs. and Miss Fitz-
gevald there, and Miss Hammound (now Lady Hood). My sus-
picion arose from seeing them in the glasses kiss each other, as
meationed before, like people fond of each other, a very close
kiss, Her bebaviour like that of a woman attached t0 a man,

#
r
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used to be by themselvesat luncheon at Sonth-Tnd, when Ladies
not sent for, 2 number of times. There was a pony which Capt.
Manby used to ride. It stood in the stable ready for him, and
which Sicard used to ride. The servants used to talk and laugh
about Captain Manby. It was a matter of discourse amongst
them, Ifli-.'erj there when Sir Sydney Smith came ; her manner
with him d.pl;t'{l!"i'd very familiar ; she appeared very attentive
to kim, but I did not suspect any thing further, All the npper
servants had keys of the doors to the Park, to let her Royai
Highness in and out. I used to see Sicard receive letters from
Mrs. Sander to put in the post instead of the bag ; this was after
_Captain Manby had gone to sea. I suspected them to be for
Captain Manby, and others in the house supposed the same,

Sworn before us, in Downing-street,

July 3, 1806.
(Sigued) ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGII.

SIR FRANCIS MILLMAN'S DEPOSITION,
I attended the Princess of Wales in the Spring, and

latter end of the year 1802, 7. e. in March and to-
wards the Autamn., Mr. Mills, of Greenwich, at-
tended her as her Royal Highness’s Apothecary, and
Mr. Mills and his partner Mr. Edmeads, have at-
tended since. [ do not know that any other medical
person atfended her at that time, either as apothe-
cary or physician. In March, 1802, I attended her
for a sore throat and fever. In 1803, in April,
I attended her Royal Highness again with Sir
William Farquhar. I don’t kuow whether she
was blooded in 1802. She was, with difficalty,
persuaded to be blooded in 1803, for a pain in her
chest, saying, she had not been blooded before, that
they could not findavein in her arm. I saw no mark
on her arm of her having been blooded before.
I observed her Royal Highness’s person at the end.
of that year, 1802, I never observed then, or at any
other time, any thing which induced me to think her
Royal Highness was in a pregrant situation. I think
it is impossible she should in that year have been
delivered af a child without my observing it. She,
during that ycar, and all times, was in the habit of

C
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receiving the visits of the Duke of Gloucester. ¥
never attended her Royal Highness but in extraor-
divary illness. Her Royal Highness has for the last
year and a half had her prescriptions made up at
Walker and Young’s, St. James’s-street. If she
had been a pregnant woman in June, 1802, I could
mot have helped observing it. .
(Signed) FRANCIS MILLMAN.

Sworn before us, in Downing-sreet, :

July 3, 1802, by the said Sir

Francis Millman.

(Signed) ERSKINE. GRENVILLE.
SPENCER. ELLENBOROUGH.

Sir FRANCIS MILLMAN to the LORD CHPFANCELLOR.
~ M~y Lorp,— Before your arrival in Downing-street, last night,
i bespoke the indulgence of the Lords of his Majesty’s Council
for inaccuracy as to dates, respeciing my attendance at Black-
heath hefore 1803. Having only notice ‘in the forencen of an
examination, 1 could not prepare myself for it, to any period
previous to that year, and i now hasten as fast as the examipation
of my papers will permit, to correct an error, inio which T'fell,
in stating to their Lordships that I attended her Royal Highness
the Princess of Wales in :tlc spring of 1802, and that I then met
his Royal Highness the late Duke of Gloucesicr at Blackheath.

It was in the Spring of 1801, and not of 1802, that, after at-
tending her Royal Highness the Princess of Wales for ten or
twelve days, 1 had the ﬁnnuur of seeing the Duke of Gloucester
at.her house,

I have the honour to be, with the greatest resfiect, my dear
Lord, your Lordship’s most obliged and obedient humbleservaut,

(Signed) FRANCIS MILLMAN,

THE DEPOSITION OF MRS, LISLI. :
I, Hester Lisle, am in the Princess of Wales's fa-

mily, have been so ever since her Royal Highness’s
marriage. 1 wasmot at South-end with the Princess;
was at Blackheath with her in 1802, but am not
perfectly sure as to dates. I am generally a month
at a time, three months in the year, with her Royal
Highness, in April, August, and December; was so
-in Aupgust, 1802. [ did not observe any alteration
in her Royal Highness’s shape which gave me any
idea that she was pregnant. I had noreason to know
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or believe that she was pregnant. During my attend-
ance hardly a day passes without my secing her.—
She could not be far advanced in pregnancy without
my knowing it. I was at Fast Cliffe with her Royal
Highness, in. August, 1803 ; [ saw Captain Rauby
only once at East Cliffe, in Awugust, 1803, to the best -
of my recollection—he might have been oftner ; and
once again at Deal Castle ; Captain Manby landed
¢here with some boys the Princess takes on charity.
[ saw Captain Manby at Kast Cliffe one morning,
not particularly early. 1 do mnot know of any
presents which the Princess made Capt. Manby. 1
have seen €apt. Manby at Blackheath one Christ-
mas: he used to come to dine the Christmas before
we were at Ramseate. It was the ‘Christmas after
Mrs. Aastin’s child came. Ile always wentaway in
my presence. 1 had no reason to think he stayed
after we (the Ladies) retired. He lodged on the
Heath at that time. L believe his ship was fitting up
at Depiford. e was there frequently. I think not
,every day. e generally came to dinner three or
four times a week or more. I suppose he might be
alone with her. But the Princess is in the habit of
seeing geutlemen and tradesmen without my being
present; I have seen him at luncheon and dinner
. both; the boys came with him, not to dinner, and
net generally, not above two or three times; two
boys, I think. Sir Sydoey Smith came also fre-
quently the Christmas before that, to the best
of my recollection. At dinner, when Capt. Manby
dined, he always sat next her Royal Highness ;
the constant company were Mrs. and Miss Fitz-
gerald and myself ; we all retired with the Princess,
and sat in the same room, he generally retired
about eleven o’clock ;- he sat with us till then. This
gccurred three or four times a week, or more. Her
Royal Highness, the Lady in Waiting,and her Page,
have each a key of thedoor from the Green-house to
the Park. Captain Manby and the Princess used,
when we were together, to be speaking together se-




parately, conversing separately, but not in a room
alone together, to my knowledge. He wasa person
with whom she appeared to have greater pleasure in
talking than to her Ladies. She behaved to him
only as any woman would who likes flirting. I
should not have thought any married woman would
have behaved properly, who shouvld have behaved as
her Royal Highness did to Capt. Manby. | ean’t say
whether she was attached to Capt. Manby, ouly that
it was a flirting conduct. Never saw any gallantries,
as kissing her hand, or the like.

I was with her Royal Highness at Lady Sheffield’s,
last Christmas, in Sussex. I inquired what company
- was there when I came. She said only NMr. Jehn
Chester, who was there by her Royal Highness’s
orders ; that she could get no other company to meet
her, on account of the roads and season of the year.
He dined and slept there that night. The next day
other company came. Mr. Chester remained ; 1heard
her Royal Highness say she had been ill in the night,
and came out for a light, and lighted her candle in
her servant’s room ; I returned from Sheffield-place
to Blackheath with the Princess, Captain Manby
dined there, I left him and the Princess twice alone
for a short time; he might be alone half an hour
with her. In the room below in which we had been
sitting, I went to look for a book to complete a set
her Royal Highness was lending Captain Manby. She
made him a present of an inkstand, to the best of my
recollection. . He was there one morning in January
last, on the Princess Charlette’s Birth-day. He went
away before the rest of the company ; 1 might be
absent twenty minutes the second time. I was away
the night Capt. Manby was there. At Lady Shef-
field’s her Royal Highness paid more attention to
Mr. Chester than to the rest of the company.-—
1 knew of her Royal Highness walking out twice
home with Mr. Chester in the morning alone; once
a short time it rained—the other not an hour—not
long. Mr Chester is a pretty young man. IHer at-
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tentions to him were not uncommon, not the same
as to Caprain Manby. Iam not certain whether the
Princess answered any letters of Lady Douglas. I
was at Catherington with the Princess. Remember
Mr. now Lord Hood, there, and the Princess
going out airing with him alone in Mr. Hood’s
listle whiskey, aud his servant man with them.—
Mr. Hood drove; staid out two or three hours,
more than once, tliree or four times. Mr. Hood
dined with us several times, once or twice he
slept in a house in the garden.  She appeared
to pay no attention to him but that ef common
eivility to an intimate acquaintance. I remember
the Princess sitting to Mr. Lawrence for her picture,
at Blackheath and in London; I have left her
at his house in town with him. I think Mrs,
Fitzgorald 'was with her, aud she sat alone with him,
I think, at Blackheath, I was never in her Royal
Hizhness’s confidence, but she has always been kind
and good-natured to me. She mnever mentioned
Captain Manby particularly to me. I remember her
being bloodedt the day Lady Shefiield's child was
christened, uct several times that I recollect, norany
otlier time, nor believe she was in the habit of being
blooded twice a year. The Princess at one timeap-
peared to like Lady Douglas; Sir John came frea
guently ; Sir Syduney Smith visited about the same
time with the Douglas’s ; I have seen Sir Sydney
there very late in the evening, but not aloue with
the Princess ; I have no reason to suspect he had a
key of the Park-gate; I never heard of any body
being found wandering about Blackheath. T have
heard of somebody being found wandering about late
at night at Mouont Edgecombe, when the Princess
was there. [l heard that two women and a man were
seen crossirg the hall. The Princess saw'a great
deal of company at Mount Fidgecombe. Sir Richard
Strachan was reported to have spoken freely of the
Princess. I did not hear that he had effered a rude-
ness to her person, She told me she had heard he
c 3
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had spoken disrespectfully of her,and therefore, I

believe, wrote te him by Sir Samuel Hood.
(Signed) HESTER LISLE.
$worn before us, in Downing-
street, July 8, 1806.
(Signed)” - ERSKINE, GRENVILLE,
SPENCER, ELLENBOROUGH.

NARRATIVE OF HIS ROVAL HIGHNESS THE
" DUKE OF KENT.

To introduce the following relation, it is neces-
sary for me to premise, that on entering the Prince
of Wales’s bed-reom, where our interview teok
place, my brother, after dismissing his attendants,
said to me, that some circumstances had come to his
knowledge with respect to a transaction with the
Princess of Wales, in which he found that [ had
been a party concerned; that if he had not
placed the most entire reliance on my attach-
ment to him, and he was pleased to add, on
the well known uprightness of my character and
principles, he should certainly have felt himself
in no small degree offended at-having learnt the
facts alluded to fiom others, and mof in the
Jirst instance from me, which he conceived himself
every way eutitled to expect, but more especially
from that footing of confidence on which he had ever
treated me; but that fully satisfied my explanation
of the matter would prove that he was not wrong.
in the opinion he had formed of the. honourable
motives that had actuated me, in observing a silence
with regard to hém vpon the subject. He then was
anxiously waiting for me to proceed witha narrative,.
his wish to hear which he wassure he had onlytoexpress
to evsure my immediate acquiescence with it. The
Prince then gave me his hand, assuring me he did.
not feel the smallest degree of displeasure towards.
me, and proceeded to introduce the subject upon
which he reguired information. When, feeling it a
duty I owed co him, to withhold from his knowledge
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no part of the circumstances connected with ity that
I could bring back to my recollection, I related the
facts to him, as nearly as [ can remember, in the fol«

lowing words :—

¢ Aboot a twelvemonth since, or thereabout (for 1 cannot
speak positively to the exact date), I received a note from the
Princess of Wales, by which she requested me to come over to
Blackheath, in order to assist her in arranging a disagreeable
matter, between her, Sir Sydney Smith, and Sir John and Lady
Douglas, the particulars of which she would relate to me, when
I should cali, 1, in consequence, waited upon her, agreeably
to her desire, a day or two after, when she commenced the con-
versation, by telling me, that she supposed I knew she had at
one time lived with Lady Douglas on a footing of intimacy, but
that she had had reason afterwards to repent avinq made her
acquaintance, and was therefore rejoiced when she left Black-
heath for Plymouth, as she conceived that cireumstance would
break off all farther communication between her and that Lady.
That, however, contrary (o her expectation, upon the return of
Sir Jokn and her from Plymouth to London, Lady Douglas had .
called and left her name twice or three times, notwithstanding -
she must have seen that admission was refused ; that having
been confirmed in the opinion she had before had occasion to
form of her Ladyship by an anonymous. letter she had re.
ceived, in which she was very strengly cautioned against
renewing her acquaintance with her, both as being un-
worthy of her confidence, from the liberties she had al-
lowed herself to take with the Princess's ~ame, and the .
lightness of her character, -he. had felt. herseit obliged, as
Lady Douglas would not take the hint, that her visits were not
wished for, to order Miss. Vernon to .write her a note, specifi-
cally telling her that they would in .future be dispensed with ;
that the consequence of this had been an application, through
one of her Ladies, in the joint names of Sir Sydney Smith, Sic
Jehn and Lady Douglas, for an audience, to require an expla-
nation of this, which they considered an affront, and that, be-
ing determined not to grant it, or to suffer any unpleasant dis-
cu sion upon the subject, she entreated me to take whatever
Meps 1 might judge best to put an end to the mwater, and rid
her of all farther trouble about it. 1 sta‘ed in reply, that I had
no knowledge of either Sir John or Lady Douglas, and there-
fore could not, in the first instance, address myself to them,
but that I had ome acquaintance with Sir $y.'ney Smith, and if
the Princess was not averse (o that-channel, 1 would try
what 1 could in that way effect,——This being assented to .
by the Princess, I took my leave, and immediately on my
return home, wrole a note to Sir Sydney Smith, request-
ing him to call on me as sosn as he conveniently conld, as [ had
some husiness to speak to him upon,. Sir Sydney in consequence
call~d on me (I think) the next day, when I related to him the
tonversation, as above stated, that I had had with the Princess,
After hearing all T had to say, he observed, that the Princess,
in siating to me that her prohibition to Lady Douglas (o repeat
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ber visitsat Blackheath, bad led to the application for an au-
dience of her 1toyal Highness, had kept from me the real eause
why he, as well as Sir John and Lady Douglas, had made it, as
itorigivated in a most scandalons anonymous letter, of a nature
calculated to set on Sir . ohn and him to c.t each other’s
throats, which, from the hand-writing and style, they were
both fully convinced was the production of the Princess
herself, 1 naiural:_y ex ressed my sentiments wpon such con-
duct, on the part of the Princess, in terms of the stro:gest ani-
madversion ; but, nevertheless, anxious to avoid the shameful
eclat which the publication of such a faet to the world must pro-
duce, the effect which its coming to the King’s knowledge would
probably have on his health, frum the delicate state of his nerves,
and all the additional consequences whichi 1 foresaw would inevi-
tably follow, were this fact, which would give the Prince so
powerful a handle to express his feelings upon the countenance
shown by the King to the Princess, at a time when 1 knew himn
to be severely wounded, by bis Majesty’s visits to Blackbeath on
the one hand, and the reporis he had received of the Princesses
conduct, on the other, to be brought to light, I felt my bounden
duty, as an honest man, "to urge all these arguments with Sir
Sydney Smith in the most forcible mapner 1 was mas er of, add-
ing also as a farther ohjéct, worthy of the most serious consi-
-deration. the danger of any apearance of ill blood in the family
at such an eventful crisis, and to press upon his mind the neces-
sity of his using his best emieavours with Sir John Douglas,
notwithstanding all the provecation that had been given
them, to induce him to let the m:tter drop, and pursue it
no farther. Sir Sydney observed to me, that Sir John Douglas
was a man w»hom, when once he had taken a line from a
a principle of honour, it was very difficult to persvade hin to
depart trom it ; however, as he thought that if any man could
prevail upon him, he might flatier himself with being the most
likely to persvade Lim, from the weight he had with him, he
would immediately try how far he could Eain npon him, by
making use of those arguments 1 had brought forward to induce
him to drop the matter altogether.  Abeut four or five duys after
this, Sir Sydney called upon me again, and informed -me, that
upon making use, with Sir John, of these reasous which 1 had
anthorised his stating to be those by which 1 wus actuated in
making the request that he weuld not press the business farther,
he had not been able te resist their force, but that the whole ex
tent of promise he had been able to obtain of him, amounted
to no more than that ke would, under e.isting circumstances, re-
snain quiel, if lejt unmolested, for that he would not pledge
himsrﬁ’ not to bring the subject forward lhevedfic ry whenr 1tl!e
same inotive might no longer operate to Keep him silent.  This
result 1 communicated, to the best of my vecoll ction, the fol-
lowing day to the Princess, who seemed satistied with it, and
from tnat day to the present oue, (November 10, 1805). 1 never
have heard the subject nanied again in auy shape, vntil called
upon by-t e Prince, to make known to hin the circumstances
of this transaction, as far as I could bring them to my recol

lection,
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And now having fulfilled what the Prince wished
me to do, to the best of my abilities, in case here-
after any one by whom a narrative of all the circum-
stances as related by Sir John and Lady Douglas, of
whom I was informed by my brother, subsequent to
our conversation, should imagine that I know more
of them than I have stated, I hereby spontaneously
declare, that what I have written is the whole ex-
tent of what [ was apprised of, and had the Prin-
cess thought proper to inform me of what, in the
Narrative of the Information given by Sir John and
Tady Douglas, is alluded to, I should have felt my-
self obliged to decline all interference in the business,
and to have at the same time stated to her, that it
weuld be impossible for me to keep a matter of such
importance from the knowledge of the Prince.

Dec. 27, 1803. (Signed) - EDWARD.

THE EARL OF CHOLMONDELEY

Gave testimony in regard to the letters and drawing sent to
Sir Jobo Douglas, e thought the letter marked A. not of
the Princess’s hand, The writing or the "drawing of Lady
Douglas and Sir Sydney Smith, wmarked B. was in a disguised
hand, but some of the lerters remarkably resembled (he Prin-
cess’s writing. The lelter C. did not bear the same resemblance,

Here the Exzaminations closed, and the four Comwmissioners
made the Report thereon, which we have published, dated 14th
July, 1503,

m———

COPY OTF A REPORT

MADE IN 1806, BY THE FOUR COMMISSIONERS
APPOINTED BY THE KING, viz,

Lord ERSKINE, Chancellor,

Lord GRENVILLE, First Lord of the Treasury,

Lord SPENCER, Secretary of State,

Lord ELLENBOROUGH, Chief Justice of the King’s Bench.

‘¢ MAY 1T PLEASE YOUR Masesty, -~
*“ Your Majesty having been graciously pleased,
by an [nstrument under your Majesty’s Sign
Manual, a Cepy of which is annexed to this Report,
to authorize, empower, and direct us to enquire into
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the truth of certain written Declarations touching the
Conduct of her Rpyal Highness the Princess of Wales,
an Abstract of which had been laid before your Ma-
Jesty, and to examine upen oath, such persons as
we shouid see fit touching and cencerning the same,
and to report to your Mujesty the result of such Exa-
minations ;—we have, in dutiful obedience to your
Majesty’s commands, proceeded to examine the se-
veral witnesses, the Copies of whose Depositions we’
have hereunto annexed ; and in further execution of
the said commands, we now most respectfully submit
to your Majesty the Report of these Examinations
as it has appeared to us. But, we beg leave at the
- same time, humbly to refer your Majesty, for more
complete information, to the Examinations them-
selves, in order to correct any error of judgment
into which we may have uniutentionally fallen, with
respect to any part of ®his business. On a reference
to the above-mentioned Declarations as the neces-
sary foundation of all our proceedings, we found
that they consisted in certain $tatements which had,
been laid before his Royal Iighness the Frince of
Wales, respecting the conduct of her Royal iigh-
ness the Princess of Wales : that these Statemerts,
not only imputed to her Royal Highness great
impropriety, and “indecency of behavioar, but ex-
pressly asserted, partly on the ground of certain al-
leged declarations from the Princess’s own mouth,
and’partly on the personal observations of the infor-
mants, the following most important facts, viz.—
"'hat her Royal Highness had been pregnant in the
year 1802, in cousequence of an illicit intercourse,
and that she had in the same year heen secretly _de-
livered of a male child, which child had ever since
that period been brought up by her Royal Highness
in her own house, and under her immediate inspec-
tion, - '
¢ These allegations thus made, had, as we found,
been followed by declarations from other persons,
who had not indeed spoken to the important facts of
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the pregnancy or delivery of her Royal Highuess,
but had stated other particolars in themselves ex-'
tremely suspicious, and still more so when connected
with the assertions already mentioned. In the pain-
ful situation, in which his Royal Highness was
placed by these communications, we learnt that his
Royal Highness had adepted the ouly course which
coald, id our judgment, with propriety, be follow-
el, when informations such as these had been thus
confidently alleged, and particularly detailed, and
had been in some degree supported by collateral
evidence, applying to other points of the same na
ture (though going to a far less extent), one line
could only be pursued. Every sentiment of duty te
your Majesty, and of concern for the public wellare,
required that these particulars should not be with- |
held from your Majesty, to whom more particulare
ly belonged the cognizance of a matter of State, so
nearly touching the honour of your Majesty’s Royal
. Family, and by possibly affecting the Succession of

your Majesty’s Crown. Your Majesty had been
pleased on your part to view the subject in the same
light. Considering it as a matter which in every
respect demanded the most immediate investigation,
your Majesty had thought fit to commit iuto our
hands the duty of ascertaining, in the first instance,
what degree of credit was due to the infermations,
and thereby euabling your Majesty to decide what
further conduct to adept concerning them.  On this
review, therefore, of- the matters thus alleged, and
of the course hithertho pursued upon them, we
deemed it proper, in the first place, to examine those
persons in whose declarations the occasion for this
enquiry had originated ; because if they, on being
examined on oath, had retracted or varied their
assertions, all necessity of further investigation
might possibly have been precluded. We accord.
ingly first examined on oath t(he principal in-
_ formants, Sir John Douglas 2:d Charlotte hig
~ wife, who both positively swore, the former *to
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his Laving observed the fact of the pregnancy of
her Royal Highness, and the latter to all the import-
ant particalars contained in her former declaration,
and above referred to. Their examinations are an-
nexed to this report, and are circamstantial and po-
sitive. 'The most material of those allegations, into
the truth of which we have been directed to enquire,
being thus far supported by the oath of the parties
from whom they had proceeded, we then felt it to
be our duty to follow up the enquiry, by the ex-
aminations of such other persons as we judged best
able to afford us information as to the facts in ques-
tion. We thought it beyond all doubt, that in the
course of enquiry many particulars must be learnt,
which would be necessarily conclusive on the truth
or falsehood of these declarations, so many persons
must have been witnesses to the appearance of an
actual existing pregnancy; so many circumstances
must have been attendant upon a real delivery, and
difficulties so nmumerous and insurmountable must
have been involved, in any attempt to account for
the infant in question, as the child of another wo-
man, if it had been in fact the child of the Princess,
that we entertained a full and confident expectation
of arriving at complete proof, ecither in the af-
firmative or negative, on this part of the subject.

¢ This expectation was not disappointed. We
are happy to declare our perfectconviction thatthere
is no foundation whatever for believing that the child
now with the Princess of Wales is the child of her
Royal Highness, or that she was delivered of any
child in the year 1802 ; nor has any thing appeared to
us which would warrant the belief that she was preg-
nant in that year, or at any other period within the
compass of our enquiries. The identity of the child
now with the Princess, its parents, age, the place
and date of its birth, the {ime and circumstance of
its being first taken under her Royal Iighness’s pro-
tection, are all established by such a concurrence
both of positive and circumstantial evidence as
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can in our judgment leave no uestion on tuis part
of the subject. That child was,.beyoud all
doubt, born in Brownlow-street hospital, on the
11th da - of July, 1802, of the body of Sophia .e'Lustin,
and was first bmught tu the Princess’s house in the
month of November following. Neither should we
be more warranted in Expressiug any doubt respect-
ing the alleged pregnancy of ‘the Princess, as stated
in the origiual Declaration, a fact so fully contradict-,
ed, and hy S0 many wntnesses, to whom, if true, it
'.must in various ways be known, that we caninot think
it entitled to the smallest ElE(llt. The testimonies on
these two points are ¢ontained in the annexed Deposi-
tions and Létters. We have not partially abstracted
them in this Report, lest by any unintentional omis-
sion we might weaken their effect; but we humbly
offer to your Majesty this our clear and unapimous
Jjudgment upon them, formed upon full deliberation,
and ;‘.-rnnuuuced withouthesitation ;on the result of the
whele enquiry. We do not, how ever, feel ourselves
at liberty, much as we -ahnuld wish it, to close our
Report here. Besides the ullegalinu of the preg-
nancy and delivery of the Princess, those Declara-
tions, on the whole of which your Majesty has been
pleased to command us to enquire and report, con-
tnin, as we have already remarked, other particulars
respecting the conduct of her Royal Highuess, such
as must, especially considering her exalted rank and
station, necetsar:iy give occasion to very unfavourabla
mEErprﬂtatmns From the various depositions and
proofs annexed fo this Report, particularly from the
examinations of Robert Bndnuad Wm. Cole, Frances
Lloyd, and Mr. Lisle, your T\Iajest}r will perceive that
several strong urcumstimcea of this description have
been positively sworn to by witnesses, who cannot, in
our judgment, he suspected of any unfavourable blas
and whose veracify, in this respect, we have seen no
ground to queslmu.

*“ On the precise bearing and effect of the facts

D
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thus appearing, it is not for us to decide ; these we
submit to your Majesty’s wisdom ; but we conceive
it to be our duty to report on this part of the En-
quiry, as distinctly as on the former facts, that as on
the one hand the facts of Pregnancy and Delivery are
to our minds satisfactorily disproved; so, on the
other hand, we think that the circumstances to which
we now refer, particularly those stated to have passed
between her Royal Highness and Captain Manby,
must be credited until they shall receive some deci-
sive contradiction; and if true, are justly entitled to
the most serious consideration. We cannot close
this Report without humbly assuring your Majesty,
that it was on every account our anxious wish to
have executed this delicate trust with as little publi-
city as the nature of the case would possibly allow,
and we entreat your Majesty’s permission to express
our full persuasion, that if this wish has been dis-
appointed, the failure is not imputable to any thing
unnecessarily said or done by us, all which is most
humbly submitted to your Majesty.

(Signed) ERSKINE,
SPENCER.
GREN VILLE.
July 14, 1806. ELLENBOROUGH.
(A True Copy)—1, BreckEeT.
f
-—*—
(COPY.)

MINUTE OF THE CABINET, Ja~, 25, 1807.
¢ Downing-street, January 25, 1807.

PRESENT,
The LORD CHANCELLOR, | Lord Viscount HOWICK,
LORD PRESIDENT, bord GRENVILLE,
LORD PRIVY SEAL, Lord ELLENBOROUGH,
Earl SPENCER, { Mr. Secretary WINDIAM,
Earl of MOLIRA, Mr. GRENVILLL,
Lord HENRY PETTY,

¢ Your Majesty’s confidential Servants have given the most
diligent and attentive consideration to the matters on which your
M:jesty h s been pleased to require tieir opinion and advice.
They trust your Majesty will not think that any a sology is ne-
cessary oi their part for the delay which has atten ed thewr dc-l;
Viberitions, on a subject of such extreme Imporiance, and whic
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they have found (o be of the greatest difficulty and embarrass-
ment.

“ They are fully convinced that it never can have been oury
Majesty's intention to require from them, that they should lay
before your Majesty a detailed and circumstancial examinatien
and dizcussion of the various arguments and allegations con-
tained in the letter submitted to your Majesty, by the Law Ad-
visers of the Princess of Wales. And they beg leave, with all
humiliiy, to represent to your Majesty that the Laws and Con-
stitution of their eonntry have not placed them in a situation in
which thev can conelusively pronounce on any question of guilt
or innocevce affecting any ef your Majesty’s subjects, much
less one of your Majes:y’s Rnya% Family. They have indeed no
power or authiority whatever to enter on such a course of en-
quiry as could alone lead to any final results of such a nature,

¢ The main guestion on wlich they had conceived themselves
called upon by their duty to submit their advice to your Ma-
'r.':it;,-, was this : YWhether the cirenmstances which had, by your
Majesty’s commands, been Hrought before them, were of a na-
tare lo induce your Majesty to order any further steps lo he
taken upon them by vour Majesty's Government ¢ And on this
point they humbly submit to your Majesty that the advice which
they offered was clear and uneguivocal, Your Majesiy has since
heen plrased farther (o require that they should sufimit to your
Maj-sty their opinious as to the answer to be given by your Ma-
Jesty to the request contained in the Princess’s letter, und as.to
the maauer in swhich that answer should be commmunicated to her
Koyal Highness,

“F They hava, therefore, in dutiful obedience to your Majes-
ty’s commands, proceeded (o reconsider the whole of the subject,
A0 this new view of it ; and, after much deliberaiion, they Liave
azreed humbiy to recommend o your Majesty the draft of a
Messige which, ifaproved by vour Majesty, they would hum-
bly suggest vour Majesty might send to her Royal Highuess
through the Lord Chuancellor,

s anv:’ing before hum' ly submiited to your Majesty theie
opinion, that the facts of ne cuse did not warrant their advis-
iﬂg that any further gteps sunuld be taken upon it by vour Ma-
Jesty's Governivent, they have not thought it neeessary 1o advise
your Majesiy any longer to decline receiving the Princess into
your iloyal presence. But the result of the whole case does, in
their judg sent, render it indispensible that your Mujéstysiould,
by a serious admoniticn, convey to her Royal Higliness your
Majesty's expectaion that her Royal Highuess should be more
circumspect 1n her future conduct ; and they trust that in the
terms ‘n which they have advised, that such adimonition shoold
be conveyed, your Blaj sty will not be of opinion, on a full
consideration of the evidence and answer, that they can be con-
sidered as ha;'irLg Ell.l' all exceeded the necessity of the case, as
arising out of the last reference which your Majest, =
plca.si":d to make to them,” 5 -Jﬂﬂ'l ‘has o

The follpwing Message was recommended on the 25th of Feb.
1897, by the under-mentioned persons : — *
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The LORD CHANCELLOR, [ Lord Viscount HOWICK,

LORD PRESIDENT, Lord GREN VILLE

LORD PRIVY SEAL, Lord ELLEN BOROUGH,
Earl SPEN(C l;.H, Mr, Sceretary WINDHAM,
Earlof MOIRA, =~ | Mr, T, GRENVILLE,
Lord IIENRY PETTY,

(COPY.)
MESSAGE FROM TIHE KING, -
TO NER ROVAL HIGHNESS TUE PRINGESS OF WALES,

 The Kine having referred to_his confidential Servants the
proceedings and papers relative to the written Declara ions
which bad been laid before his Masesty, respecting the con-
duct of the Princess of Wares, has been apprized T:_}' them
that after the fullest consideration * of ‘the examinations
taken on that subject,” and of the observations ‘aud afiidavits
hrought forward hy the PPrincess’s Legal Advisers, they asrce
in the opinions subimitted to his Magestv in the cﬁriqi‘naﬁ{c-
port of the four Lords by whom his Masesty directed that the
matter should, in the first instance, be enquired into ; and that
in the present siage of the business, upon a mature and delibe-
rate view of this most imporiant subject, in all its parts and
bearings, itis their opirion, that the facis of the case do not
warrant their advising that any further step should be taken in
the husiness by his Masesey’s Government, or any other pro-
ceedings instituted upou it, except such only, as his MAsestv's
Law Servants may, on arcference to them, think fit to recom-
mend for the prosecution of Lady Dovcras, on those parts of
her deposition which.may appear to them to be justly liable

thereto,

¢ In this situation, his Masesty isadvised that itiz no longer
necessary for him to decline receiving the Princess into his
Royal presence.

“ The Kixe sees with great satisfaction the ngrecment of his
Confidential Servants, in the decided opinion expressed by the
four Law Lovds upon the falsehood of the accusations of preg-
nancy and delivery brought forward against the Prixcess by
Lady Doveras. On the other matters produced in the course
of the Enquiry, the King is advised, that none of the facts or
allegations stated in preliminary examinations, carried on in the
absence of the parties interested, are to be considered as legally
or conclusively established. But in those examinations, and
even in the answer drawn in the name of the Princess by her
legal advisers, there have appeared circumstances of conduct
on the part of the Princess, which his Masesyy could never
regard but with serious concern., The elevated rank
wﬁich the Princess holds in  this country, and the re-
lation in which she stands to his Majesty and the Rovar Fa-
MILY, must always deeply involve both the interests of the State,
and the personal feelings of his Magesty, in the propriety and
correctness of her r:.nmﬂmt ; and his Majesty, therefore, cannot
forbear to express, in the conclusion of the business, his desire
and expectation, that such a conduct may in future he observed
by the Princess, as may fully justify those marks of paternal
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regard which his Majesty always wishes to show to every part
of the Rovar Faminy.

“» His Masestv hasdirected that this Message should be trans-
mitted to the Princess of Waces by his Lorp CHANCELLOR ;
and that copies of the Proceedings which have taken place on
this subject, should also be communicated (o his dearly-beloved

Son, the Prince of YWaLes.”

s —

MINUTE OF COUNCIL, Aerir 22, 1807.
PRESENT.
The Lord Chancellor (Eldon) Earl Bathurst
The Lord President (Camden)  Viscount Castlereagh
The Lord Privy Seal (Westmor- Lord Mulgrave

land) Mr. Secretary Canning
The Duke of Portland Lord Hawkesbury
The T.arl of Chatham

Your Majesty's confidential servants have, in obedience fo
vour Majesty’s commands, most attentively considered the ori-
ginal Charges and Report, the Minutes of Evidence, and all the
other Papers submitted to the consideration of your M q*est}f,un
the sahject of those chargesagainst her Royal Highness the Prin-
cess of Wales.

In the staze in which this business is brought under their con-
sideration, they do not feel themselves called upon to give any
opinion as te the proceeding itself, or to the mode of investiga-
tion in which it has been thought proper to conduct it, But ad-
verting to the advice which is stated by h's Royal Highness the
Prince of \Wales to have directed his conduct, your Majesty’s
confidential servants are anxious to impr-ss upen your Majest
their conviction, that his Royal Highness could not, uoder sue
adyice, consistently with his public duty, have done otherwise
than lay before your Majesty the Statement and Examinations
which were submitted to ﬁ'im upon this subject.

After the most deliberate consideration, however, of the evi-
r%::uce which has been brought before the Commissioners, and of
the previous examinations, as well as of the answer and ohser-
vations which have been submitted to your Majesty upon them,
they feel it necessary o declare their decided concurrence in the
clear and vnanimous opinion of the Commissioners, eonfirmed
by that of all your Majesty's late confidential servants, that the
two main charges alleged against ber  oyal Highness the Prin-
cess of Wales, of pregnancy and delivery, are completely dis-
proved, and they further submit to your Majesty their unani-
mous opinion, that all the other particulars of conduct bronght
in accusation against her Royal Highness, to which the charac-
ter of criminality can be ascribed, ore eilker salisfactorily con-
tradicled, or rest upon evidence of such a nature, and which was
given, under such circnmstances, as render it, in the judgment
of your Majesty’s confidential servants, undeserving of credif,

“ Your Majesty’s confidential servants, therefore, concurring
in that part of the opipion of your late servants, as stated in

D3
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their Minute of the 25th January, that there is no longer any
necessity for your Majesty being advised to decline receiving
the Princess into your, Royal presence, humbly submit to your
Mayjesty, that it is escentially necessary, in justice to her Royal
Highness, and for the honour and interests of your Majesty’s Ii-
lustrious Family, that her Royal Highness the Princess of Wales,
should be admitted, with as little delay as possible, into your Ma-
jesty's Royal presence, and that she should be received tn a4 man-
ner due to her rank and stalion, in your Majesty's Court and
Family.

“ '&ymlr Majesty’s confidential servants likewise beg leave to
submit to your Majesty, that considering that it may be neces-
sary that your Majesty’s Goyernment should possess the means
of referring to the true state of this transaction, it is of the ut-
most importance, that these documents, dempustrating the
ground on which your Majesty has proceeded, should be pre-
served in safe custody ; and that for that purpose the originals,
or authentic copies of all these papers, should be sealed up and
depnsi}ed in the Office of your Majesty’s Principal Secretary of
State.’
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EVIDENCE FROM THE PRINCESS’S
BOOK.

PRINCESS OF WALES'S LETTER TO THE KING.

——

e this dav present our Readers with the Letter of her Royal
ilighness the Princess of \YAvEs to the Kivg, which the Hon.
CocuraNE JonnsToNE read as a part of his speech, and which.
he said he could prove, at the Bar of the House, to have been
written by the late Mr., PErcevar, in conjunction with Lord
Erpox and Sir Tnoyas Poonmer. We give it without a com-

ment,
TO THE KING. '

¢ Sipre,—Impressed with the deepest sentiments of gratitude
for the conntenance and protection which I have hitherto uni-
formly received from your Misesty, I approach you with a
heart undismayed, upon the occasion so awtul and momentous
to my character, my honour, and my happivess. I should, in-
deed (under charges such as have now been brought against me),
prove myself undeserving of the continuance of that ceunte-,
nance and protection, and altogether unworthy of the high sta-
tion which 1 hold in your Masesty’'s family, if I sought for
any impartiality, for any indulgence, for any thing more than
what is due to me in justice. My entire confidence in your Ma-
JESTY'S virtnes assures me that 1 cannot meet with less,

¢ The situation which I have been so happy as to hold in
your MaJjesty's good opinion and esteem, my station in your
MaresTy's angzust family, my life, my honour, and through mine,
the honour of your Majesty’s family have been attacked. Sir
Jos~ and Lady Dovcras haveattempted tosupport a direct and
precise charge, by which they have :}ared to impute to me the
enormoust guilt of High Tregson, committed in the foul act of
Adullezl}: In this charge the extravagance of their malice has
defeated itself. The Reportof the Lords Commissioners acting
under your Magesty's Warrant, has most fully cleared me of
that charge.

** But there remain imputations, strangely sanctioned and
countenanced by that Report, on which I cannot remain silent
without incurring the most fatal consequence to my honour and
character, For it stales to your MAJEsTy, that the* circum-
stances detailed against me must be credited (ill they are deci-
sively contradicted.” —To contradiet with as wnuch decision as
the contradiction of an accused can convey ; to expose the in-
Justice and malice of my encmies; to show the utter impossibi-
lity of giving credit to their testimony ; and to vindicate my

own ingocence, will be the objects, Sire, of this Letter,

#
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* In the course'of my pursuing these ohjects, T shall have
much to complain of, in the substance of the proceeding itself,
and much in the manner of conducting it.

* That any ef the charges should ever have Leen entertained
upon testimony so little worthy ot belief, which betraved in
every sentence the malice in which it originated ; that even if
they were ente:tained at all, your Masesty should bave heen
advised to pass by the ordinary legal modes of enquiry into such
high crimes, and to refer them to a Commission, open to all the
objections w 'ich I'shall have to state to such a mode of enquiry ;
that the Commissioners, after having negatived the prinecipal
charge of substantive crime, should %aw entertained considera-
tiens of matter that amounted to no legal offcnce, and which
were adduced, not as substantive charges in themselves, but as
matters in support of the principal accusation j that through the
pressure and weight of their official occupations, they did not
—perhaps could not—bestow that attention on the casc, which,
if given to it, must have enabled them to detect the villainy and
falsehood of my accusers, and their foul conspiracy against me ;
and must have preserved my character from the weighty imputa-
tion which the authority of the Commissioners has for a time cast
upon it; but, above all, that they should, upon this ex-parie
examination, without hearing one word that I could urge, have
reported to your MajesTy an opinion on these matters, so pre-
judicial te. my honour. and from which I can have no appeal
to the laws of the country (because the charges, constituting
no legal offence, cannot be made the ground of a judicial en-

niry) ; these, and many other circumsances, connected with
ﬂlﬂ length of the proceedings, which have cruelly aggravated
to my feeling, the pain necessarily attendant upon this en- .
quiry, 1shall sot be able to refrain from stating and urging as
matters of serious lamentation at least—if not of well-grounded
complaint. ;

¢ In commentiiig upon any part of tlie circumstances which
have occurred in the course of this enguiry, whatever observa-
tions 1 may he compelled to make upon any of them, 1 trust 1
shall never forget what is due to officers in high station and em-
ployment under your Majesty. - No apology, therefore, can be
required for any reserve in my expressions towards them. But
if, in vindicating my innocence against the injustice and malice
of my enemies, 1 should appear to your MAjEsTY not to express
myself with all the warmth and indignation which innocence so
foully calumniated musi feel, your Magesty will, I trust, not at-
tribute my forbearance to any insensibility to the grievous inju-
ries I have sustained, hut will graciously be pleased to ascribe it
to the restraint [ have imgposed upon myself, lest, in endeavour-
ing to deseribe in just terms the motives, the conduct, the pers
jury, and all the foul circumstances which characterise and esta-
blish the malice of my accusers, [might use language, which,
though not unjustly applied to them, might be improper to be
used by me to any body, or unfit to be employed by any body,
humbly, respectfully, and dutifully addressing your MaJesTy,
That a fit opportunity has eccurred for laying open my heart to
your Maspsty, perbaps I shall hereafter hiave no reason to la-
ment ; for more than two years 1 had been informed, that upoa
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the presumption of some misconduct in me, my bebaviour had
. heen the subject of investigation, and my neighbours’ servants
had been examined concerning it ; and for some time 1 had re-
eeived mysterious and indistinct intimations, that somne great
mischief was meditated towards me ; and in all the circumstance
of my very peculiar situation, it will not be thought strange,
that however conscious I was, that I had no just cause for fear,
[ should yet feel some uneasiness oa this account, Wih sur-
prise certainly (because the first tidings were ofa Kind to excite
surprise), but without alarm, I received the intelligence, (hat
for some reason, a formal investigation of some parts of my con-
duct had been advised, and had taken place.

“ His Royal Highness the Duke of KexT, on the 7th of June,
15308, announced it to me, He announced to me, the Princess of
Wacres, the near approach of twa Attornies(one of them 1 since
find the Solicitor employed by Sir Jou~ Dougras), claiming to
enter my dwelling with a Warrant to take away one hall®of my
Household, for immediate examination npon a charge against
myseif, Ofthe natuge of that charge I was then uninformed.—
It now appears it was the charge of High Treason, committed?
in the infamous crime of Aduitery, Iis Royal Highness will,
famsure, do me the justice to represent to your Masesty,
that 1 betrayed no fear—that 1 manifesied no symptoms of
conscious guilt—that I sought no excuses fto prepare or o
tuter my servanis, for the examination which they were to
undergo. The only request which ! made to Lis Royal High-
ness was, that he would have the zoodness (o remain with me
till the servants were gone, that he might Dear witneéss that 1
had no conversation with them before they went. [In truth,
Sire, my anxieties under a knowledge that some serious mis-
chief was planning agaiast me, and while I was ignorant of its
quality and extent, had beensec great, that I could not but re-
joice at an event whichseemed to promise me an early opportu-
nity of asceriaining what the malice of my enemies intended
against me. It has pot been, indeed, without impatience the
mest painful, that 1 have passed the interval which has since
elapsed, When it was not only known to the world (for it
was krown o Uie world) that enquiry of the gravest nature had
been instituted into my conduct, '1 looked to the conclusion with
all the eazerness that could belong to an absolute conviction that
my innocence and my honour, to the disgrace and confusion of
my accusers, would be established, and that the groundless ma-
lice and injustice of the whole charge would be manifested to
ihe world, as widely as the calumny had been circulated. 1
Knew that the result ofan e.c-parte enquiry, from its very nature,
could not, unless it fully asserted my entire innocence, be in any
degree just ; and I had taught myself more firmly to believe,
that it was utterly irnpus&ihﬁ: that any opinion which conld in

. the smallest degree work a prejudice to my honour and charac-
ter, could even be expressed in any terms, by any persons in a
Report upon a solemun formal Enquiry, and morvé especially to
yonr Maserrv, without my bhaving some notice and some oppor-
tanity of being heard ; and 1 was convinced, that if the proceed-
ing allowed me, before an opinion was expressed, the ordinary
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means which accused persons have of vindicating their honoar
and their opinion, whichi could then be expressed, be faliy vin-
dicated and effectually established. W hat then, Sire, must
bave been my astonishment and my dismay, when I saw, that
notwithstanding the prineipal aceusation was found to be ntterly
false, vetsome of the witnesses to those charges which were
broughtinstupport of the l|:nrim:ipal accusation,—witnesses w hom
any person interested to have protected my ebaracter, would
easily have shown, out of their own mouths, to be utterly vn-
worty of credil, and confederatcs in Jointconspiracy with my
false accusers, are reported  to be free from all uspicion of -
favourahic bias 5 their veracity, in the jndgment of the Commis-
siorzers not to be questioned 3" and their infamous stories and
Insinuations against me * to be such as deserve the most serious
counsideration,” and as such to be credited ¢ tiil decisively con-
tradieted.’ :
““ The Enquiry, after I thus had notice of it, continued fur above
two months. 1 venture not to complain, asif it had been none-
cessarily protracted, The imporiant duties and official avoca-
tions of tue Noble Lords appointed to carfy it on, may naturally
account for and excuse soine delay, But however excu-able it
may have been, your Masestv will conceive the pain and anxiely
which the interval of suspence has occasioned, and your Ma-
JuEsTY Will not be surprised if 1 further represent, that 1 have
found a great aggravation ol my paivful sutferings, in the dela
wiich occurred in comueunicating the Heport to me 3 for Lhmtgﬂ
itis dated on the L4t of July, 1 did wot receive it till the 11th
of Aug. notwithstanding your ¥ a0 Lovy’s gracions comunantde, It
was due unquestionably te your MAsesTY, that the resuil of an
Enguiry conmanded by vour Masisyy, uponadvice which had
heen offered, touching mattess of the highest i:npnrt,;r-nqtld be
first and immediately communicated to you. The respect and
houour due to the Princeof Wargs, the interest which he must
necessarily have taken in this Enquiry, combined to make it in-
disiu-nﬁihﬂ' fit that thie result shounld be forthwith also stated to
his Royal Highness. 1 complain not, therefore, that ii was too
early communicated (o any one ; I complain only, and I com-
plain mosi seriously (for I felt it most seriously) ef the delay in-
i(s conuzunication to mo, .
¢ Roamour has informed the world, that the Report had been.
early communicated to your Masesty and to hisRoyal Highnes,.
I did not receive the benefit intended for me, by yourMaJesTY s
most gracious command, till a moath after the Report was signed.
But the same romour has represeited me, to my infinite preju-
dice, as in possession of the Heport duaring that month ; and the
malice of those who wished to stain my honour, has not failed to
snggest all that malice could infer from its remaining in their
possessionn so long. May 1 be permitted to say, that if the Re-
port acquits me, my ingocence entitle me to receive from those
to whom your Majesty’s comwands had been given, an imme-
diate notification of the fact that it did acquit me. Sentence
should nct have left to settle in any mind, much less upon your
Magsesty's, for a month before I could even begin to prepare for
an answer,which,when begun, could net speedily be concluded ;
and that if the Report could be represented as beth acquitling

-
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and condemning me, the reasons which suggested the propriety
of an early communication in each of the former cases, com-
hined to make it proper and necessary in the latler,

* And why all censiderations of my feelings was then cruelly
neglected—why I was kept upon the rack, truring all this time,
iznorant of the result of a charge which affected my honour and
my life—and why, especially in a case where such graver mat-
ters were to continue to be credited to the prejudice of my ho-
nour, till they were decidedly cuntraJictEd, the means of
knowing what it was, that I might at least endeavour to con-
tradict, were withholden from me a single unnecessary hour,
1 know not, and I will not trust myself in the attempt to con-
Jecture,

¢ On the 11th of Aug., however, 1 at length received from the
Lorp CraxceLLor a packet, containing copies of the Warraut
or Commission authorising the Enquiry, of the Report, and of
the Examinations on which the Report was founded ; and your
MasesTyY may be graciously pleased to recollect, that on the 13th
1 reterned my gratefu] thanks to your Masgesty for having or-
dered these Papers to be sent me. Your Masesty will readily
imagine, that, upon a subject of such importance, I could not
venture to trust only to my own advice, and those with whom
I advised, suggested, that the Declaratien or Charge, npon
which the Enquiry had proceeded ; and which the Commissioners
refer to ia their Report, and represent to be the essential founda-
tion of the whole proceedings, did notaccompany the Examina-
tion and the Report, and also that the Papers themselves were
not authenticated.

** 1 ventured, therefore, to address your MajesTy ‘'upon the
supposed defect in the communication, and humbly requested
that the Copies of the Papers which 1 then returned might,
after being examined and authenticated, be again transmitted
to me, and that I might also be furnished with the Copies of
the written Declarations, so referred lo in the Report, and
my humble thanks are due for your Muisestv's compliance
with my request.—On the 25th of August 1 received, in con-
sequence, the attested Copies of those Declarations, and of a
Narrative of his Royal Highness the Duke of Kext; and a
few days afterwards, en the Sd of September, the attested
Copies of the Examinations which were taken before the Com-
missioners,

“ By the copy of the Commission, a warrant which T have
received, under which the Enquiry has been prosecuted, it ap-
pears to be an instrument under your Masestv's Sigu Manual,
not countersigned, not uander any seal. It recites that an ab-
stract of certain within declarations, touching my conduct
(without specifyirz hy whom those declarations were made, or
the nature of the matters touching which they had been made,
or even by whom the ahstract had been proposed) had been laid
hefore your MasrsTv, into the truth of which it purports to au-
thorise the four Noble Peers, who are named in it, to enquire
and examine upon oath such persons as'they think fit, and report
to your MasesTv the result of their examination.

** By referring to the within Declaration, it appears that they
coniain allegations against me, amounting to the charge of high
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treasen, and also other matters which, if understond to be, as
they seem to have been acted and reported upou by the Com-
missioners, not as evidence confirmatory (as they are expreseed
to be in the title) of the principal charge, but as distinet and
substantive subjects of examination, cannot, as | am advised, be
represented as in law amounting to crimes—how most of the De-
clarations referved to were collected, by whom, at whose solici-
tation, under what sanction, and before what persons, magis.
trates, or others, they were made, does not appear. By the title,
indeed, which all the within Declarations, except Sir Jons
and Lady DoucGras, bear, viz. * That they had been laken for
the purpose of confirming Lady Dovearass’s stalement,”” it ma
Le collected, that they had been by her, or at least by Sir Joun's
procurement ; and the concluding passage of one of them, 1 mean
the 4th declaration of Witriam CorEg, sirengthens this opinion,
as it represents Sir Jonn Doveras, accompanied by his Solici-
tor, Mr. Lewron, to have gone down as far as Cheltenham, for
the examination of two wituesses, whose declarations are there
stated. 1 am, however, at a loss to know at this moment, whom
| am to consider, or whomn 1 could fix upon, as my false aceuser.
From the circumstance last mentioned, it might be inferred that
Bir Jouw Dovaras, or one of them, is the accuser. But Lady
Dovucras in her within declaration so far from representing the
information which she then gives, as woving voluntarily from
herself, expressly states, that she gives it under the direct com-
mand of his Royal Highness the Prince of Wavrges, and the Pa-
pers leave me without information from whom any communica-
tion (o the Prince orignated, which induced him ta give such
commands.

« Upon the question how far the advice is agreeable to law,
under which it was recommended to your MajesTY to issue this
Warrant or Commission, not counter-signed, nor under scal,
and withont any of your Magesty’s advisers, therefore, being on
the fiee of it responsible for its issuing, I am not mm}wtmt to
determine. And vndoubtedly, that the two high legal anthori-
ties, the Lonp CaancecLonr, and the Lorp Cnier Justicu of the
King's Bench, consented to act under it, it is with the greatest
doubt and diffidence that 1 can bring myself to express my sus-
picionof its illegality, Butif it be, as 1 am given to under-
stand it is, @pen to question, whether consistently with law,
vour Maatsry should have been advised to command by this

‘arrant or Commission, persons not to act in any known cha-
vacier, as Secretaries of Siate, as Privy Councillors, as Magis-
trates otherwise empowered, but to act as Commissioners, and
under the sole authority of such Warrants, to enquire without
auny authority, to hear and determine any thing upon the sub-
icﬁl of those enquiries, into the known crime of High 1'reason,
‘under the sanction of oaths to be administered by them as such
Commissioners, and to report the result thereof to your Na-
aestY. If, Isay,there ean be any question upon I:ttc]E_gldlll?_ﬂf
such a Warrant or Commission, the extreme hardship with 1_viuch
it has operated upon me, the exireme prejudice which it has
done to my character, and to which such a proceeding mvst ever
expose the person who is the object of it, eblige me till 1 am
fully convinced of its legality,-{o forbear ackuowledging 1is au-
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therity, and with all humility and deference to your Basesty,
te protesiagainstall the proceedings under it.”

e e

DEFENCE
OT THE

PRINCESS OF WALES,

-+

The Report and Examinations were (ransmitted te
her Royal Highness. She took the advice of the late
Mvr. Perceval, Lord Eldon, aund Sir Thomas Plumer,
who drew up an elaborate Defence, the first part of
which was wholly occupied in a Lkarsh and severe ani-
madversion on the nature of the proceeding—the for-
mality of the King's Warrant—the legality of the
Commission—theex-partenature of the Examinations,
&c. &c. &c. upon all of which we have already given
our opinicn. This part of the Defence is a tissue of
special pleading, betraying great narrowness of mind
in her legal advisers, siuce such pleading could not
serve her cause by leading to her vindication, and was
evidently grounded more in political hostility to the
Ministers in power, than in a moral sense of the duty
which they owed to their client. After stating that
the Report of the Commissioners most fully cleared
her of the charge of hizh treason, by the foul crime
of adultery, there remained imputations, strongly
sanctioned by that Report, stating that the circum-
stances delailed against her must be credited till they
were decisively contradicted. These were entertain-
ed on tesiimony so little worthy of belief, betraying
the malice in which it originated, that it was with no
little astonishment that she perceived the Come
missioners had acted vpon it. [t was extraordinary
that they should entertain charges amounting to ne

E
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legal offence, even if clearly proved, and still more
so that they did not employ the attention that was
necessary to detect the.villainy of the foul conspi-
racy which was evidently formed against her life and
honour. Above all, that they should have thovght
themselves justified in reporting on such evidence,
without hearing one word on her behalf, to
his Majesty, from whom there could be no appeal to
the laws, because the charges could not be made the
ground of judicial enquiry. She trusted that his Ma-
jesty would not-attribute her warmth, in speaking of
the manner of this prosecution, to any want of duty
or respect to the Throne, but to her own sense of
dignity, and to the just feelings which she entertained
for the honour of the Royal Family, of which she
was a Member.

For more than two years she had been told of in-
sinuations against her honour—that her neighbour’s
servants had been under secret examinations—and
dark intimations were given to her of some mischief
hatching for the destruction of her peace, if not
aiming at her life. On the 7th of June, 1806, the
Duke of Kent communicated to her that a formal
investigation was actually commenced into her con-
duct: and she instantly heard that two Attornies
(one the Solicitor of Sir John Douglas) were arrived
at her house, to execute warraunts to take half of her
household servan(s away, for the purpose of exami-
nation. It now appeared that the design was a
charge of the crime of high treason, in the infamous
crime of adultery, by which an attack was made di-
rectly on her life. 'The first feeling of her heart
prompted her to request his Royal Highness the
Duke of Kent to remain with her till her ser-
vants were gene, that he might bear witness that
she held ne couversation with any of them pre-
yious to their departare, which he accordingly
did. This at Teast may scive to shew that there
was no alarm on ler part, arising (rom any conscious-
ness of guilt, or that she liad any need of putting



51

her servants on their guard, much less of giving
them instructions. 'The Enquiry went on for two
months from this time, without her receiving the
least communication on the subject, or knowing
what dark and fatal machinations might be going on.
At length, the Report, though dated the 14th July,
did not reach her till the 11th August. She could
not, in a sitwationg of such peril to her life and ho-
nour, trust to her own_]udgmenf, and therefore she
consulted legal men in forming her defence. They
advised her that the body of the charges was not
complete, as the Declarations upon which the King's
Warraunt eriginated had not accompanied the Exami-"
nations and Report, aud that the whole had net been
officially authenticated. By a representation to his
Majesty these omissions were rectified. On the 29th
August she received the Declarations (includiug the
Duke of Kents), and on the 3d of September the
papers were authenticated,

After this introduction the technical objections to
the warraut, tribunal, and form of proceeding follow,
which, onaccount of I.hPI[' qulbh!mgquuh{y,we do not
think itv ery requisite to detail, but proceed to the spe-
cific answers to.the E‘Jld-Ell(‘E'. She was ready to ac-
knowledge that her honour was of more importance to
the State than that of any other woman ; that her cona
duct therefore might be fitly subjected, w hen necessary,
to a severer scrutiny than that of uthers, but |I:{:0uid
not follow, because her character might be of more
lmpmtancp, that it might be attacked with more im-
punity. For twe years she had been slandered in
the most iznominious way—insinuations thrown eut
against herin her neighbourhood—spies plnced on
her conduct—the servants in the neighbou ring fami-
lies tampered with, and that by the Earl of Moira,
as would appear I}y the deposition of Jonathan Par-
tridge, porter to Lord Fardley. She humbly trusted,
that bhefore any oiher proceeding should be gﬂne
into, it would be considered as fit that it should be
by anothier more known and regular tribunal, and in
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a manner more consonant with the forms of British
judicature.

She now proceeded to ebserve on the evidence ad-
uced : and, first, of the testimony of Lady Douglas.
"Ihe first observation that must strike every one, was
the folly of gratuitously and uselessly confessing toa
person, almost a stranger, a secret of such vital
importance as that of pregnancy, if it had heen
really so. Lady Douvglas had, in fact, courted
her acquaintance, by the most humble attentions,
and she was not a person who ecither by her
manners or acquirements could engage any part
of her counfidence. The Princess proceeds to exa-
mine her Declaration, made on the 3d December,
1805, though it was not communicated to his
Majesty till the month of May, and though she did
not feel herself called upon to enter into any refuta-
tion of an evidence that was totally discredited, yet,
in justice to her own feelings, she must show how in-
consistent, vague, and futile it was in every part,
and accordingly the Princess goes through it passage
by passage. 'I'he other Declarations were made by
persons of a character and description, as one would
have thought would of itself have deprived them of
all credit. Such informations—such ex-parfc exa-
minations were of themselves sufficient to make the
Commissioners hesitate—Dbut to report upon them to
Lis Majesty, with all the weight and authority of
their high names, she was perfectly at a loss
to account for. The evidence was described as
containing matters of ¢ great impropriety and
indecency of behaviour, and as other particulars in
~ themselves extremely suspicious, and still more so,
when connected with the assertions already men-
tioned.” And they go on to say, ¢ that particular-
larly what passed between her Royal Highness and
Captain Manby must be credited until they receive
some decisive contradiction ; and, if true, are justly
entitled to the most serious consideration.” Now,
what did the whole rest upon? Hearsays—rumours
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—suspicions, and the reports of very doubiful per-
sons. All the witnesses, except Mrs. Lisle, were
witnesses of the informers. For Mrs. Lisle she had
great respact ; but all the rest were placed by the
Prince about her; and what is it,that they say ?—
They sperk only to such generalities, as makes it
difficult, at such a distance of time, to recollect facts
with safficient accuary to contradict them.

Cole, for instance, talks of her eating sandwiches
with Sir Sydney Smith : that he sometimes came to
diuner, and to supper, and staid till twelve or one,
or later. These were assertions which she could not
contradict, because they were true. His conversa-
tion, and the history of his achievements, amused
her. She was fitting up a Turkish tent, and he as-
sisted her. Ile gave her the plan of Murat Bey’s. He
taught her how to draw Egyptian Arabesques, &c.
and this occasioned his frequent visits, and some,
probably, as early in the merning as Bidgood men-
tions. Bidgood might also have met them walking
in the park alone; for the Ladies might have gone
up to take off their cloaks, and dress for dinner,
while they remained alone. At some of these times
Cole and Bidgood might have seen Sir Sydney, when
he had not entered through the waiting-room : but
she never knew that he had a key to the park ; and
as to being alone with him, it must have happened
with many others as well as him ; and she did not
couceive it to be inconsistent with the manners of
society, It was only in the drawiog-room—in no
other reom,did she ever see Gentlemen ; and as to eat-
ing sandwiches, she had herself ordered them te be
brought in, according to daily custom, apd he un.
doubtedly might have been sifting on the same sofa.
She might have often heen seen sitting on the same sofa
with other Gentlemen, as well as Sir S. Smith ; butit
was impossible for her to say what corner of a sofa
be might hdve occupied four years ago. Her con-
science perfectly acquitted her of any improper free-

E J
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dom ; and, unless it should be considered, that a
- Princess of Wales could never descend to the fami-
liarities and intercourse of private life, it must be
under any circumstances extremely hard; but under
Ler's, it could hardly be expected from her.

There were four different Declarations from Cole
—all different from the deposition which he after-
wards made, and materially differing from one ano-
ther. It was her misfortune that Cole and Bidgood
had not been sifted and questioned as they ought to
be. The Law Lords were not always, nor even
often, present ; and the examinations were left to
Farl Spencer and Lord Grenville. Cole was not pu-
nishable, because the two Lords ceuld not adminis-
ter an cath; and yet, mark the conduct of this man.
ITe had observed a man in a great coat at midnight,
without feeling or giving any alarm ; -and yet this man
had his nerves so shocked as to start at seeing a gen-
tleman sitting on a sofa at mid-day. He could suffer
theapproach of a man at midnight to his master’s
bed, because he did not believe him to be a thief—
and yet could hLave his suspicions aroused at seeing
a friend with his mistress in an open room! It was
no doubt the watchman whom he saw at midnight,
whose duly it was to go lis rounds, both with-
out and within the house—and it was his duty to
have ascertained who it was, if he had doubts on the
subject. He ascribes his removal to his starting. 1t
was was not so—=Cole was a disagreeable man ; he
had been eduocated above his station; he spoke
French, and piayed on the violin, &c. He would
frequently piay on her harpsichord, and read her
books. He showed a forwardness and imperti-

- nence which were disgusting. He bad lived
at  Devonshire Houmse, and was recommended
from thence to the Prince. He carried thither
all the observations which he made on the
Princess’s family, which determined her to remove
him ; and for this purpose she desired the Dul.ie of
Kent to acquaint him that she wished him to wait on.
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her at Carlton House, and the arrangement would
have been made des:rabfe to him, if he had conducted
himself with propriety. -

The Lamperts, servants of Lady Douglas, the
Commissioners had not thought proper to emn}ine,
no doubt from their sense of the ignominy into
which Lady Douglas had plunged herself ; but it was
unfertunate that by the absence of Sir ‘i}'du?}r Smith
she was unable to call on him to refute the Declara-
tion of the Lamperts.

The next person imputed to the Princess was Mr.
Lawrence the painter., Mrs. Lisle said, that she sat
to him in London and at Blackheath ; and Cole said,
*“ he slept two or three nights at Montague louse.
That d6ne night she was with him alone in the blue
room, after the Ladies had retired ; and that after-
wards, when he supposed that Mr. Lawrence had
gone to bed he went to see whether all was safe, and
he found the blue room lecked, and heard a whisper-
ing in i, upon which he went away.” In his first
Declaration he said, that much suspicion was ¢ en-
tertained of Mr. Lawrence,” but he does not-men-
tion the whispnering nor the locked door. This con-
tradiction is worthy of remark. It is perfectly true -
that in 1800 or 1801, Mr. Lawrence painted a
large- picture of her and her daunghter, aund he
asked to be permitted to sleep a few nights at
Montague iInuae, that he might get up and work
on the picture in the morning. Sir William Bechey
had done the same. Accordingly, an apartment
was assigned to him at the other end of the house.
He did not dine with the Princess, but he came
down sometimes to music in the evening. He
sometimes read, as he reads .qhall;ﬂ]:-PEtrE with great
elegance, and lie sometimes played at chess with the
Princess. it frequently might have happened that he
stayed till one or two o’clock, The Ladies and he
went together,—but it might have happeued that
once he was Iu-,"t with her, a< e himself recollects
that it did happen fora minateor two alter the Ladies
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had retired. He lived in the greatest intimacy with
Mvr. Lock and Mr. Angerstein. and the Princess had
asked him to dine with her with them. No doubt
she often sat alone to him, and often continped in
conversation with Lim after thesitting for the day was
over,—Dbut it never occurred to her that it was neces-
sary to her honour to have a witness upon all such
occasions. Mors. Lisle says, that she left the Princess
at Mr. Lawrence’s, but thinks Mrs. Fitzgerald was
with her.

As to Captain Manby, the evidence of Bidgood,
Irances Lloyd, and Mrs. Lisle are to be considered ;
—and first as to Mrs. Lisle’s evidence: she had
placed twe boys under his care, and Mrs. Lisle says,
¢ that he was the person with whom the Princess
took greater pleasure in speaking to than any other;
that she behaved to him only as a woman would do
who likes flirting—but she weuld not have thonght
that any married woman would have behaved pro-
_ perly who bebaved as she did to him. She would not
say she was attached to him, but it was a flirting cons
duct. She never saw any gallautry, as Kissing her
hand or the like.” ek

This was the sum of her evidence. The Princess
was introduced to Captan Manby at Lady Tewns-
heud’s. She put two boys under his care. While

the  Africaine, his ship, was fitting out, he took
apartments at Blackheath,and she sometinies saw him,
—Having placed these boys under him, she made him
a present of a little plate, as it was constantly her
practice to make a present of some sort, where she
imposed trouble. 1u like manner Sir Samuel Hood
had two of her boys, nud she gave him an epergne.
She admits that she frequently conversed with Cap-
“tain Manby, but Mrs. Lisle’s evidence was not suffi-
ciently sifted ; she onght to have explained more dis-
tinctly what she observed, and not to be left to
speak in generalitics. The Princess’s counscience ac-
quitted her of every improper freedom, Mrs. Lisle
had at this time losta favourite daughter, which no



37 y

doubt gave to her mind a serious and even severe
turn in judging of a persom’s behaviour in company,
who had not the happiness te live in the society and
confidence of her husband; but certainly Mrs. Lisle
would not have continued to reside with the Princess,
if circumstances of an unseemly sort had presented
themselves to her eye. Look round the world, and
to the cenduct of ladies of the most unimpeached
character, and say, if they were subjected to the
same severe turn of mind,whether there might not be
adduced instances of gaiety and harmless playfuluess
which might be misinterpreted into levity. This was
the part of the case that hung the heaviest on the
Princess's mind. :

For as to Bidgood’s evidence his saying that he
saw Captain Manby salute the Princess in the re-
flection of a glass, this was totally destroyed by the
oath of Captain Manby, that there was no glass in the
room. As to the charge of driving out with a lun-
cheon to Longreach only with the coachman and
helper—why did not the Commissioners examine the
coachman and helper? They might have told the
destination of the drives and the object of them.—
The affidavit of 8. Gillam Mills, annexed, would
show the insidicus pains that were taken upon which
to found a charge. 'The truth was, that upon two
occasions of her driving to Belvidere, accompanied
by Mrs. Fitzgerald, Captain Manby was of the
party ;-and they did take some refreshment at Lord
Fardley’s ; and it was equally true, thatshe walked
with him at Ingress ; that she was on board the
Africaine 5 but she never went with him into any
room, or into the house either at Belvidere or else-
where.

At South-end there are more circumstances——and
she enumerates thie points of the evidence. Thethree
houses, Nos. 7, 8, 9—Captain Manby sleeping often
in the house—seen next morning at ten o'clock—
putting the candles out—not waiting—water jug,
bason, and towels, &c. the Princess could not recol-
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lect accurately. She remembers there was a digpute
among the servants as fo the perquisite of ecandles.
Hers were to belong to her maid—and she told Bid-
good to leave them—Dbut as to water jugs, bason,
and towels, shecould not treat with gravity. What !
have these things in an open passage, where all her
people were passing, to announce to them all that
he was there, and thus to promulgate a secret which
was no less than High Treason, and which was to
cost lier her life! The Commissioners could net,
surely, believe any story so gross. Mrs. Sanderand
Mary Wilson both justified her from this slander.

Frances Lloyd said she was aroused out of bed,
to make breakfast for Capt. Manby, at six o’clock.
This might have happened ; because it was twice
agreed that they should go out upon water parties,
onte of which only took place :-and she remembers
to have walked down the lawn early on one of the
mornings fixed for such an excursion; and might,
at such time, have been seen by F. Lloyd. It will
hardly be credible, that Earl Meira sent for Mr.
Mills the day after Fanny Lloyd’s declaration : but

it will be seen by his and Mr. Edmeades deposition,
" what pains were taken to tamper with witnesses.

The next persen was Mr. Hood, now Lord Hood,
who married Miss Hlammond, one of the ladies in

Princess’s household. It is perfectly true she
rode out with him twice in his whisky without having
her own servants. This was immediately affer the
death of the Duke of Gloucester, and while he
lay unhuried. She went out in the whisky for air;
but wished not to be seen with a retinue of servants,
while his Royal Highness lay unburied.

‘I'he next persons imputed to her were Mr. Che:r:-
ter and Captain Moore, By Mus. Lisle’s evidence it
is said, that Mr. John Chester was invited by her
special order. Now, instead of this, he was only
one of several invited. She begged of Lady Shef-
ficld that every thing of the name of North, all the
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Legges, all the Chesters, and Mr. Llliot should be
invited. All about the candle, aud being found in
the gallery, would have been explained if Lady Shef-
field had been examined. It is most likely that she
might have walked with Mr. John Chester, but what
was thErE in all this that she ought to be called on to
answer ?

As to Captain Moore, Mrs. LIEIE had borrowed a
book from hn:n. Her mother, the Duchess of Bruns-
wick, was fond of the late "Dr. Moore’s writings,
and the Captain lent them a MS. of his late father, -
in returoe for which she made him a trifling present.

As to the anbnymuas papers marked A. B. C. she
solemnly denied all knowledge of them. They were
submitted to Mrs. ['itzgerald, together with the seal
—she deuied that they were ‘the hand-writing of the
Princess, or that the seal was her’s; and yet this
was not contained in lier examination.

The Princess concludes her defence with some few
ebservations on the Report - of the Commissioners.—
There were great omissions in it.—She was desirous
that it should be opened up again; but she depre-
cated secret tribunals. Against false charges of
friends, turned evemies—of serviats, who seemed
traitors and spies, and the foul conspiracy of social
and domestic treason, she could look to no secm*
for her honour but to the principle of jucticg, whi
constantly actuated the conduct of his \’lttjeaty —
For a Princess of Wales te have been placed in a
sitoation, in which it was esscatial to her honour to
Tequest a Lrentleman to swear that he was not locked
up in a roon: with her 2loue ; and another, that he .
did sot give her a lascivious salate, and never slept
in her house, i fo have been vctually degraded aund
disgraced. “¢ [ have becn, Sire,” said the Princess,
¢ placad in this situation, Could I forbear to an-
noifice a conspiracy against my honour and station
in the country? Al all events, L trust you will re-
store me (o the Liessing of your gracious preseuce,
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and confirm to me, by your gracious words, your
satisfactory conviction of my innocence.

¢ QOctober 3, 1806. ‘“ CAROLINE P.¥
Then follow Affidavits,

—_——

THE DEPOSITION OF THOMAS EDMEADES, OF
GREENWICH, COUNTY OF KENT, SURGEON.

¢ On Tuesday, May 20, 1806, I waited upon the
Earl of Moira, by his appointment ; who, having
introduced me to Mr. Conant, a Magistrate for
Westminster, proceeded to mention a charge pre-
ferred against me by one of the female servants of her
Royal Highness the Princess of Wales, of my having
said that her Royal Highness had been pregnant.—
His Lordship then asked me if I had not bled her
Royal Highness,—and whether at that time I did not
mention to a servant, that I thought her Royal High-
ness in the family way,—aund whether I did not also
ask if the Prince had been down to Montague-house ?

¥ answered, thatit had never entered my mind thather

Royal Highness was in such a situation; and that,
therefore, certainly I never made the remark to any
one, nor had I asked whether his Royal Highness had
visited the House. [ said, that at that time a report
of the nature alluded to was prevalent, but that I
teggted it as the infamcus lie of the day. His Lordship
adverted to the circumstance of her Royal Highness
having taken a child into her house; and observed,
how dreadful mistakes about Succession to the Throne
were,sand what confusion might be caused by any
claim @fsthis child : I observed, that I was aware of
it, but wepeated the assertion, that I had never
thought of such a thing as was suggested, and there-
fore considered it impossible, in a manner, that I
coeld have given it utterance. 1 observed, that I
belicved, in the first instance, Mr. Stikeman, the
Page, had mentioned this child to her Royal High-
ness, and that it came frem Deptlord, where 1 went
when her Royal Highuess first took it, tosceif any
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illness prevailed in the family. Mr.Conant observed,
that he believed it was not an unusual thing for a
medical man, when he imagined that a Lady was
pregnant, to mention his suspicion to some confi-
dential domestic in the family, I admitted the bare
possibility, ¢f such had been my opinion; but re-
marked, that the if must have been removed, before
I could have committed myself in so absurd a
manner.

Lord Moira, in a- very significant manner, with
his hands behind him, his head over one shoulder, his
eves directed towards me, with a sort of smile ob-
served, ¢ that he could not help thinking there must
be something in_the servant’s deposition,” as if le
did not give perfect credit to what I had said. He
observed, that the matter was then confined to the
knowledge of a few ; and that he had hoped, if there
had been any foundation for the aflidavit, I might
have acknowledged it, that the affair might have been
hushied. With respect to the minor question, I ob-
served, that it was not probable that I should con-
descend to aslk any such question as that imputed to
me, of a meral servant, and that [ was not in the
habit of conferring confidentially with servants. Mr.
Conant cautioned me to be on my guard ; as, if it
appeared on further investigation, 1 had made such
enquiry, it might be very unpleasant to me, sli.lld
it come under the cosideration of the Privy Coune
cil. I said, that 1 considered the report as a
malicious one, and was ready to take oath before
any Magistrate, that [ had not at any time asserted,
er even thought, that her Royal Highnessihad ever
been in a state of pregnancy since L had "had the
lionour of attending the household. Mr. Conaut
asked me whether, whilst I was bleeding her Royal
Highness, or after I had performed the operation, I
did not make some comment on the situation of her
Royal Highness from the state of the blood, and
whether | recommended the operation. I answer-

-
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ed in the negative to both questions; I said that
her Royal Highness had sent for me to bleed her
and that [ did not then recollect on what account,
1 said that 1 had bled her Royal Highness twice, but
did not remember the dates. I asked Lord Moifa
whether he intended to proceed in the business, or
whether I might consider it as at rest, that I might
have an opportunity, if I thought necessary, of con-
sulting my friends relative to the mode of conduct
1-ought to adopt, He said, that if the subject was
moved any farther, I should be apprised of it, and
that at present it was in the hands of a few. I left
them ; and in about an hour, on further considera-
tion, wrote the note of which the follying is a copy,
to which I never received any reply :—

¢“ Mir. Edmeades presents his respectful compli-
“ ments to Lord Moira, and on mature deliberation,
¢ after leaving his Lordship upon the conversation
‘¢ which passed at Lord Moira’s this morning, he
¢ feels it necessary to advise with some friend on the
“ propriety of making the particulars of the con-
¢ yersation known to her Royal Highness the Prin-
‘¢ cess of Wales, as Mr. Edmeades would be very
¢ sorry that her Royal Highness should counsider
¢ him capable of such infamous conduct as that im-
“ vputed to him, on the deposition of a servant, by
¢« ord Moira, this morning.

‘¢ London, May 20, 1805."

I have been enabled to state the substance of my
interview with Lord Moira and Mr. Conant with the
more particularity, as 1 made memorandams "of it
within a day or two afterwards; and I do further
depose, that the papers hereunto annexed, marked
A.and B. are in the hand-writing of Samuel Gillam
Mills, of Greenwich aforesaid, my partner; " and
that he is at present, as I verily believe, upoa his

road from Wales through Gloucester to Bath.
(Signed) ~ THOMAS EDMEADES.
Sworn at the Pablic Office, Hatton-

garden, this 26th day of Septem- :
ber, 1806, (Signed) THOMAS LEACH.
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A.
Memorandums of the heads: of conversation between Lord Moira,
Mr. Lowten, and myself,
May 14, 1506.
May 13, 1806.—I received a letter from Lord
Moira, of which the following is an exact copy :—
St. Jawmes's-place, May 13, 1806.
S1r,—A particular circumstance makes me desire
to have the pleasure of seeing you, and indeed ren-
ders it indispensable that you should take the trou-
ble of calling on me. As the trial in Westminster
Hall occupies the latter hours of the day, I must beg
you to be with meas early as nine o’clock to-morrow?
morning. Lo the mean time it will be better that
you should not apprise any one of my having re-’
guested you to econverse with me.
1 have the honour, Sir, to be,
Your obedient servant,
To Mr. Mills, (Signed) "MOIRA,

This is the paper A. referred to by the
affidavit of Thos. Edmeades, swern
before me the 26th Sept, 1506, THOS., LEACH.

B.

I conseqience of the above letter, I waited on his,
Lordship exactly at nine o’clock, In less than five
minates I was admitted at his room, and by himue-
ceived very politely. He began the conversation by
stating he wished to converse with me on a very deli-
cate subject—that I might rely on his honour, that.
what passed was to be in perfect confidence ; it was:
his duty to his Prince, as his Councillor, toenquire
into the subject, which he had known for some time ;-
aud the enquiry was due also to my character. He. -
then stated, that a deposition had been made by a.
domestic of her Royal Highness the Princess of:
Wales, deposing, as a declaration made by me, that
her Royal Highness was pregnant, and that I made
enquiries when interviews might have taken place
with the Prince. I answered, that I had never de-
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clared the Princess to be with child, nor ever made
the enquiries stated—that the declaration was an
infamous falsehood.  This being expressed with
some warmth, his Lordship observed that I might
have made the enquiries very innoccntly, con-
ceiving that her Royal Highness could not be in
that situation but by the Prince. I repeated my as-
sertion of the falsehood of the declaration, adding,
that though the conversation wasintended to be con-
fidential, [ felt my character strongly attacked by
the declaration, therefore it was necessary tlie decla-
vation should be investigated. I had no doubt bat
the character I had so many years maintained would
make my assertion believed before the deposition of
a domestic. I then requested to know what date the
declaration bore ! His Lordship suaid he did not re-
member, but he had desired the solicitor to meet me,
who would shew it me. I then observed, that I
should -in confidence communicate to his Lordship
why I was desirous to know the date, I then stated
to his Lordship, that soon after her Royal High-
ness came to Blackheath, I attended her in an
illness, with Sir Francis Millman, in which I
bled her twice. Soon after her recovery, she thought
proper to form a regular medical appointment,
and appointed myself and Mr. Edmeades to be sur-
geons and apothecaries to her Royal Highness. On re-
ceiving my warrant for such appointment, I declined
accepting the honour of being appointed apothecary,
being inconsistent with my character, being educated
as surgeon, and having had an honorary degree of
physic conferred on me. Her Royal Highness con-
descended to appoint me her surgeon only. His
Lordship rang to know if Mr. Lowten was come:
he was in the pext room. His Lordship left me for
a few minutes, returned and introduced me to Mr.
Lowten, with much politeness as Dr. Mills, repeat-
ing the assurance of what passed being confidential.
I asked Mr. Lowten the date of the declaration that
had been asserted to be made by me. He said in thae
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vear 1802. T then, with permissipn of his Lord-
skip, gave the history of my appointment, adding,

siwea had never seen the Princess as a.patient.
O or me to bleed her. 1 was from

‘ eades went ; nor had I visited

. e, extept one Mary, and
tiat v " badd ease of surgery ; I was not ¢
surT 3 {fore- or after my appoint-
ment. vten ssked me the date of it ; I told
him Ldi oo veectioct, e observed from my warmth
of expressiic my coutradiction of the deposition, that

I saw it ina wrong light; that I might suppose, and
very innocently, ner Hm al Hl;.,hness to be pregnant,

and then the &1 uirics were as innocently made, I
answered, that the idea of pregnancy never entered
my head ; that I never attended her Royal Highness
in any sexual complaint ; whether she ever had any I
never knew. Mr. Lowten said, I might think so
from her increase of size. I answered, No—I never
did think her preznaut, therefore never could say it,
and that the deposition was an infamous falsehood.
His Lordship then observed, that he perceived there
must be 2 mistake, and Hmt Mr. Bdmeade§ was the
person meant, whom he wisheil to see, 1 said he was.
then at {'J.'szfnrd, and did not return before Saturday..
His Lordship asked if he came through London. I
said [ could not tell. .

Finding nothing now arising from conversation, L
asked to retire. His Lords lnp attended me out of
the room with great politeness.

When I came home [ sent his Lordship a letter,
with the date of my warrant, April 10, 1801. He
answered my letter, with th mks for my immediate
attention, and wished to see Mr. Edmeades on Sun-
day mnrning. This letter came on the Saturday;
early on the Sunday I sent Timothy to lét his Lord-
ship know Mr. Edmeuadss would not return till
Monday. On Tuesday I promised he ‘should at-
tend, which he did.

E Jd
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The preceding memorandum is an exact copy of

what I made the day after I had seen Lord Moira.

_ (Signed) SAM. GILLAM MILLS.
Croome-hill, Greenwich, Aug. 30, 1805,
This is the paper marked B, referred
to inthe affidavit of Mr. Edmeades.
Sworn before me, this 26th Sept.
1306. (Signed) THO. LEACH.

AFFIDAVIT OF THOMAS LAWRENCE, ESQ.

I, Thomas Lawrence, swear, that in the year
1801, I did sleep several nights at Montague House,
and that frequently between the close of the day’s
setting, and her Royal Highness’s dressing for dinner,
I was alone with the Princess. That I saw her in
the evening, and remained till twelve, one, or two
o’cock, but never alone, except in one single in-
stance, and that for a short time, when [ remained
with her Royal Highness in the blue room or draw-
ing-reom, as I remember, to answer some questions
that had been put to me. I cannot recollect the par-
ticulars, but solemnly declare that I have not the
least objection for all the world to have heard or
seen what took place; that I never was alone with
her Royal Highness in any other place ; that I uever
was with the door locked, bolted, or fastened, other-
wise than in the common and usual manner, which
leaves it in the power of any person on the outside

to open it. So help me God,
THOMAS LAWRENCE,

Hatton-garden, Sept. 24, 1806.
T. LEACH.

—*‘-‘

FARTHER DOCUMENTS RELATIVE TO THE INVES-
TIGATION OF 1806.

My Lorp,—In consequence ol certain inquiries directed
" by his Majesty, Lady Donglas, wife of Sir John Douglas, of
the Marines, hos deposed upon oath, that she was told by her
Royal Highness the Princess of Wales, that at a breakfast at
Lady Willoughby's honse, in May or June, 1802, &c.—(Ex-
{ract from Lady Douglas's Depositicn.)
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Tt being material to ascertain, as far as possible, the truth
of this fact, I am to request that your Lordship will have the
goodness to desire Lady Willoughby to put down in writing
every circumstance in any manner relative thereto (if any
such there be), of which her Ladyship has any recollection
and also to apprisse me, for his Majesty’s information, whe-
ther at any time, during the course of the above-mentioned
year, Lady Willonghby observed any such alteration in the
Princess’'s shape, or any olher circumstances, as might in-
duce her Ladyship to believe that her Royal Highness was
then pregnant. I am, &c.

2o0th June, 1806: SPENCER.

Sidmouth, 21st June, 18006.
My Dear Lorp,—In obedience to your commands, [
lost no time in communicating jo Lady Willoughby, the
subject of your private letter, dated the 20th instant, and I
have the honour of inclosing a letter to your Lordship from
Lady Willoughby. 1 have the honour, &c. ‘GWYDIR.

—————

June 21, 1506.

My Lord,—In obedience to the command contained in your
Lordship’s letter communicated to me by Lord Gwydir; 1
have the hounour to inform you, that I have no recollection
whatever of the fact stated to have taken place, during a
breakfast at Whitehall, in May or Juue, 1802 5 nor do 1 bear
0 mind any particular circumstances relative to her Royal
Highuess the Princess of Wales at the peried to which you
allude. 1 have the honour, &e.

Earl Spencer. " WILLOUGHBY.

Sidmouth, July 3, 1806.
¥y Lorp—I immediately communicated to Lady Wil-
loughby the Queries transmitted to me in the envelope of a
letter dated July the 1si, which 1 had the honour to receive
this day frum your Lordship. 1 return the Quepies, with
Lady Willorghby’s Answers, in herr own hand-writing.

We are both truly sensible of your Lordship's kind atten-
tion in not requiring Lady Willunghby’s personal attendance.
She will most readily obey the order of the council, should
her presence become necessury.—I have the honour, &c.

. WY DIR.
To Earl Spencer, &c. (A true copy)=J. Becket.
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QUERIES.

1. Does Lady Wi'loughby
remember secing the Princess
of Wales at breakfast or din-
ner at her house, eilthier at
Whitehall or Bockenham, on
or about the months of May
or June, 1802?

2. Has her Ladyship any
recollection of the circum-
stance of her Royal Highness
having retired from the com-
pany at such breakfast or din-
ner, on account, or under the
pretence of having spilt any
thing over hey handkerchief?
And if s0, did Lady Willough-
by attend her Royal Highness
on that occasion? And what
then passed between them re-
lative to that circumstance ?

3. Had Lady Willoughby
frequent oppoitunities in the
course of that year, to see her
Royal Highness the Princess
of Wales, and at what pe-
riods? © And did she at any
time during the year, observe
any appea'r;*tm'.e which led her
to suspect that the Princess
of Wales was pregnant?

4. Ts Lady Willoughby ac-
quainted with any other cir-
cumstances leadingto thesame
conclusion, or tending to estas
blish the fact of a criminal in-
tercourse, or improper fami-
liavity, between her Royal
Highoess and any other per-
son whatever? And if so,
what are they ?

ANSWERS,

1. In the course of the last
ten years the Princess of
Wales has frequently done me
the honour to breakfast and
dine at Whitchall, and Lang-
ley, in Kent. Her Royal
Highuness may have beeu at
my house in the months of
May or June, 1802 but of the
periods at which [ had the
honourof receiving Ler, 1 have
no precise recollection.

2. I do not remember her
Royal Highness having at any
time retired from the compa-
ny either at Whitehall, or at
Langley, under-the pretence
of having spilt any thiug evex
her handkerchief,

3. To the best of my re-
membrance 1 had (ew oppor-
tanities of seeing the Prin-
cess of Wales in the year
1802, and 1 do not recollect
having vbserved any particu-
lar eircumstances relative to
her Royal Highgpess's appear-
ance,

4. Duying the ten years I
have had the honour of know-
ing the Princess of Wales, I
do not hear in mind 2 single
instance of her Ropal High-
ness's conduct in sociely, to-
wards any individual, tend-
ing to establish the fact of a
criminal intercourse, or im-
proper familiarity.

WILLOUGHBY.

=
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THE DEPOSITION OF JONATHAN PARTRIDGE,
Porter to Lord Eardly, at Belvedere.

I remember lieing infarmed by Mr. Kenny, Lord Eardly’s late
steward, now dead, that 1 was wanted by Lord Moira, in town ;
accordingly 1 went with Mr.. Kenny to Lord Moira’s, in St
James’s-place, on the King’s birth-day, in 1S04. His Lordship
asked me, if | remembered the Princess coming to bBelvedere
some time before ? I said, yes; and told him that there were two
or three ladies, 1 think three, with her Royal lHighness, and a
gentleman with them, who came on horseback : that they lonked
at the pictures in the house, had their lnncheon there, and that her
Royal Highness s servants waited upon them, as 1 was in a dis-
habille. His Lordship asked me, whether they went up stairs ?
and [ told him that they did not. He asked me, how long
they staid ? and 1 said, as far as [ recollected, they did not stay
above an hour, or an hour and quarter : that they waited ome
little time for the carriage, which had gone to the public-house,
and, till it came, they walked up and down altogether in the

ortico before the house. His Lordship, in the course of what
1e said to me, said, it was a subject of importance, and might
be of consequence. His Lordship, finding that 1 had nothing
more to say, told me 1 might go.

Some time afterwards, his Lordship sent for me again, and
nsked me, if 1 was sure of what 1 said being all that I could
say respecting the Princess? [ said, it was; and that I was
ready to take my oath of it, if his Lordship thonght proper,
He said it was very satisfactory ; said I might go, and he should
not want me any more,

(Signed) JONATHAN PARTRIDGE.
Sworn at the County Court of Middlesex,

in Fullwood’s Rents, the 25th -day of

September, 1506, before me,
(Signed) THOMAS LEACH.

r—

The Deposition of Philip Krackeler, one of the Footmen of
her Royal Highness the Princess of Wales, and Robert Lagles
it{rmr, Park-kecper to bher Royal Highness the Princess of

ales,

These Deponents say, that on or ahout the 20th day of June
last, as they were wulking together across Greenwich Park,
they saw Robert Bidgood, one of the Pages of her Royal
Hizhness, walking in a direction, as if he were going from
the town of Greenwich, towards the house of Sir Joln
Douglas, and which is a different road from that which leads
to Montague House, and they, at the same time, perceived Lady
Douglas walking ina direction to meet him. And this deponent,
Phibip Krackeler, then desired the other Deponent to take
notice, whether Lady Douglas and Mr. Bidgood would speak
to each other; and both of these Deponents observed, that
when Lady Douglas and Mr. Bidgood met, they stopped, and
conversed together for the sﬁa:a of about two or three mi-
putes, whilst in view of these Deponents; but how much longer
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their eonversalion lasted, these Deponents cannot sav, as ihev
these Deponenits proceeded on 1heir road, which 'l::uk l':u:r:
out of sight of Lady Douglas aud Mr. Bidgeod, '
(Nigned) PHILIP KRACKELER,
. ROBLRT EAGLESTONE.
Sworn at the Publie=Offic, Hatton-garden,
Sept. 27, 1806, before me,

(Signed) THOMAS LEACH.
A —
LETTER FROM THE PRINCESS OF WALES TO THE
KRING,

SirE,— By my short letter to vour Majesty of the 12th inst. in
answer to your Majesty's commmunication of the 10th, 1 notified
my iatention of representing to your Majesty, the various
grounds on which [ felt the hardship of iny ;,'.-1,,-;-; and, a review
of which, T confidently hoped, would dispose your Majesty to
recal your determination to adjeurn, te an indefinite period,
my reception inte your royal presence ; a determination which,
in addition to all the othier pain which it brought along with it,
affected me with the disappointment of hopes which 1 had
fondly cherished, with the most perfect confidence, because they
rested on yeur Majesty’s gracious assurance.

Independently, however, of that communication from your
Majesty, I should bave felt myself bound to have treubled your
Majesty with much of the contents of the present letter,

I;}pfm the receipt of the paper, which, by your Majesty’s
continands, was transmitted to me by the Lord Chancellor, on
the 8th of lasi month, and which communicated to me the joy-
ful intelligence, that your Majesty was * advised, that it was
no longer necessary for you to decline receiving me into your
Royal presence,” I conceived my necessarily called upon to
send an immediate answer to so mitelof it as respected that io-
ielligence, I could not wait the time which it would have re-
quired, tostate those observations, which it was impossible for
me torefrain from making at some period, upon the other im-
portant particulars which that paper contained. Accordingly, I
answered it immediately : and, as your Majesty’s gracious and
instant reply of last Thursday fortnight, announced to me your
pleasure, that I should be received by your Majesty, on a day
sabsequent to the then ensuing week, I was led most confidently
to assure myself, that the last week would not have passed,
without my having received that satisfaction. 1 therefore deter-:
mined to wait in patience, without further intrusion upon your
Majesty, till I might have the opportunity of guarding myself
from the possibility of being misunderstood, by personally ex-
plaining to your Majesty, that whatever observations I had to.
make upon the paper so communicated to me, on the 28th ult.
and whatever complaints respecting the delay, and the man
cruel circumstances which had attended the whole of the proceed-
ings against me, and the unsatisfactory state in which they were
at length left by that last communication, they were observa-
tions and complaints which affected those only, under whose ad.
vice your Majesty had acted, and were not, 1n any degree, io-
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tended to intimate even (he most distant insinuation against your
Majesty’s jll_—‘-lii‘f‘ or Kindoess, s - :

That paper established the opinion, which 1, certainly, had
ever coutidently entertained, but the ljllstll{"ﬁs of wihuch | had
not before any document ‘o estblish, that yonr Majesty bhad,
flow the first, decined this proceeling a high and important
matter of State, in the consideration of which, your Majesty
had oot feit yoursell at liberty to (rust to your own generous
feelings, and to your own Rouyal and gracious judgment., 1
never did believe, tiat the cruel state of auxiety, in which I
had been kept, ever since the delivery of my answer (for at
least sixteen weeks), could be at all attributaiile to your Ma-
jesty : it was most unlik> every thing which I had ever experi-
enced from your Majesty’s condescension, feeling, and justice;
and [ found, from that paper, that it was (o yeur conlidential
servants [ was to ascribe the length of banishment from your
presence, which they, at last, advised your Majesty, it was no
longer necessary should be coniinued. I perceive, therefore,
what I always believed, that it was to them, and to them only,
that I owed the protracied continuance of my sufferings, and of
myv disgrace ; and that your Majesty, coosidering the whole of
this proceeding to have been instituted and couducted under the
grave responsibility of your Majesty’'s servanuts, had not thought
proper to take any step, or express any opinion, ujon any part
of it, bat such as was recomiended by tieir advice. Influ-
enced by these sentiments, aud anxious to have the opportunity
of conveyiug them, wiih the overflowings of a grateiul beart,
to your Majesty, whai were my sensations of surprise, mortifi-
cation, and disappointmeant, on the receipt of your Majesty’s
letter of the 10th instant, your Majesty may conceive, though
I am utterly unable to express,

That letter announces to mie, that his Royal Highness the
Prince of Wales, upon receiving the several docaments which
your Majesty directed your Cabinet 1o transmit to him, made a
personal communication (o your Majesiy of his intention to put
them into the hands of his lawyers, accompanied by a request,
that your Majesty would suspend any further steps in the busi-
ness, untii the Prince of Wales should be cnabled to subunit to
vour Majesty the statement which he proposed to make; and it
also announces to me, that your Majesty, therefore, considered
it incumbent on you, to defer naming a day to me, until the fur-
ther result of the Prince of Wales’s iatention should hiave been
made known to your Majesty.

This deterinination of your Majesty, on this request, made by
hiz Royal Highness, I humbly trust your Majesty will permnit
me £2 eptreat you, in your most gracious justice, to reconsider.
Your Majesty, Lum convinced, must have been surprised at
the tine, and prevailed upon by the importunity of the Prince
of Wales, to think this determination necessary, or your Mla-
Jcs:y“:a generosity and justicewould never have adopted it. And
1f 1 can satisfy your Majesty of the unparalleled injustice, and
cruclty, of this interposition of"the Prince of Wales, at such a
time, and under such circumstances, I feel tie most perfect con-
fidence that your Majesty will hasten to recal it.

I shounld basely be wanting to my own interest and feelings,
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{f T did not plainly state my sense of that injustice, and cruelty ¢
and if I did not most loudly complain of it Your Majesty will
better perceive the just grounds of my complaint, when I re-
trace the course of these proceedings from their commencement,

The four Noble Lords, appointed by your Majesty to enquire
into the charges brought against me, 1n their Report of the 14th
July last, afier having stated that his Royal Highness the Prince
of Wales had laid before them, the charge which was made
againstme, by Lady Douglas, and the declarations in support of
it, proceed in the following manner :—

““ In the painful cituation in which his Royal Highness
was placed by these communications, we learnt that his Royal
Highoess had adopted the only course which could, in our judg-
ment, with propriety be followed. When informations such as
these had been thus confidently alleged, and particularly de-
tailed, and had been in some degreesupported by collateral evi-
dence, applying to other facts vf the same nature S'thﬂugh going
to a far less extent), one line only could be pursued,

‘“Every sentiment of duty to your Majesty, and of concern for
the public welfare, rc:rirctl that these particulars should not be
withheld from your Majesty, to whom more particularly be-
longed the cognizance of a matter of Siate, so nearly touching
the honour of your Majesty's Royal Family, and, by possibility,
affecting the succession of your Majesty’s Crown,

** Your Majesty had been pleased, on your part, to view the
subject in the same light. Considering it as a matter, which, on
every account, demanded the most immediate investigation, your
Majesty had thought fit to commit into our hands the duty of
ascertaining, in the first instance, what degree of credit was due
to the information, and thereby enabling your i"rlu_jest y lo de-
cide what further conduct to adopt respecting them,”

His Royal Highness then, pursuing, as the fonr Lords say,
the only course, which could, in their judgment, with propriety,
be pursuerd, submitted the maiter to your Majesty. Yonr Ma-
jesty direcied the Enquiry by the four Noble Lords, The four
Lords, in their Report upon the case, justly acquitted me of all
crime, and expressed (I will not wait now to say how un_]uglgg&
the credit which they gave, and the consequence they ascri
to other matters, which they did not, however, characterize as
amouating to any crime. T'o this Report 1 made my answer,—
That answer, together with the whole proceedings, was referred
by your Majesty to the same four Noble Lords, and others of
your Majesty’s confidential servants. They advised your Ma-
Jesty, amongst much other matter (which must be the subject of
further observations), that there was no longer any reason why
you should decline receiving me. :

Your Majesty will necessarily conceive that 1 have always
Inoked vpon my banishment from your Royal presence, as, in
fact, a punishment, and a scvere one too. I thought it suffi-
ciently hard, that 1 shounld have been suffering that punishment,
during the time that this Enguiry has been pending, while 1 was

‘et ouly under accusation, and upon the principles of the just
aws of your Majesty's kingdom, entitled to be presumed to be
innecent, till I was proved to be guilty. But 1 find this does
ot appear to be enough, in the opinion of the Prince of Wales.
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Yor nosw, when after this long Enquiry into matters which re-
quired immediate investigation, 1+hm'e been acquitted of every
thing which could call for my banishment from your Royal pre-
sence. After your Majesty’s confidential servants have thus ex-
pressly advised your Majesty, that they see no reason why you
should any longer decline to receive me_into your presence :—
after vour Majesty had graciously notified to me, vour deter-
minafion to receive me at an early day, his Royal Highness in-
terposes the demand of a new delay,—desires your Majesty not
to take any step,—desires you not to act upon the advice which
your own confidential servants have given you, that you need
no longer decline seeing me—not to execule your intention, and
assurance, that you will receive me at an early day ;—because
he has laid his documents before his Lawyers, and iutends to
prepare a further statement. And the judgment of your Majes-
ty's confidental servants, is, as it were, appealed from by the
Prince of Wales (whom, from this time, at least, I mnst be per-
mitted to consider as assuming the character of my accuser) ;—
the justice dhe to me is to be suspended, while the judgment of
your Majesty's sworn-servants is to be submitted to the revision
of my accuser’s Counsel ; and I, though acquitted in the opinion
ef your Majesty’s confidential servants of all that should induce
vour Mnjesty to decline seeing me, am to have that punishment,
which had been inflicted upon me, during the enquiry, continu-
ed after that acquittal, till a fresh statement is prepared, to be
azain submitted, for aught I know, ‘to another Enquiry, ofas
extended a continuance as that which has just terminated.

Can it be said that the proceedings of tﬂe four Noble Lords,
or of your Majesty's confidential servants, have heen so lenient,
and considerate towards me and my feelings, as to induce a sus-
piciom that T have been too favourably dealt with by them ? and
that the advice which has been given to your Majesty, that
your Majesty need ne longer decline to receive me, was hastily
and partially delivered? 1 am confident your Majesty must'
see the very reverse of this to be the case—that I have every rea-
son to complain of the inexplicable delay which so long with-
held that advice : and the whole, character of the observations
with which they accompanied it, marks the reluctance with
which they yielded to the necessity of giving it. g

For vour Majesty’s confidential servants advise your Majesty,
¢ that it is no longer necessary for you to decline receiving me
into vour Royal presence.” 1f this is their opinion and their
advice now, why was it not their opinion and their advice four
months ago, from the date of my answer? Nay, why was it not
tiieir opinion and advice from the date even of the original Re-
port itself 7 For not only had they been in possession of my an-
swer for abiove sixleen weeks, which at least furnished them with
all the materials on which this advice was at length given ; but
further, your Majesty’s confidential servants are forward to
state, that after having read my ohservations, and. the aflidavits
which were annexed to them, they agree in /e opinions (Dot iu
any single opinion upen any particular branch of the case, but
ii the opinions generally) which were submitted to your Ma-
Jjesty, in the original Report of the four Lords, If, therefore

- G -
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(notwithstanding their concurrence in all the opinions epntained
in the Repert) they have nevertheless given to your Majesty their
advice, ** thatitis no longer necessary for you to decline re-
ceiving me,” what could have prevented their offering that ad-
vice, even from the Lith of tuly, the date of the original Re-
port itself? Or what could have warranted the withhplding of it,
even for a single moment? Insiead, therefore, of any trace
being observable, of hasty, precipitate, and partizl determi-
nation in my favour, it is impossible to interpret their condact
and their reasons together in any other sense, than as amounting
to an admission of your Majesiy’s confideutial servants them-
selves, that I have, in conseguence of heir withhold:ng (hat ad-
vice, been unnecessarily and crueily banished from your Royal
presence, from that l4th of July, o the 281l of Jianuary, in-
cluding a space of above six mouths; and toe cflect of tne inters

osition of the Prince, is to prolong my suflerinzs. ud m

isgrace, under the same banishment, to a period perfectly in-
definite.

The principle which will admit the effect of such inierposition
now, may be acted upon again ; and the Prinee 1y require a
further prolongation upon fresh statements, and [iesh charges,
kept back possibly for the purpose of being, frow time to time,
conveniently interposed, to prevent for ever the arrival of that
hour, which, di?ﬁla_‘,‘ing to the world the acknowledgment of
my unmerited suffcrings and disgrace, may, at the same lime,
expose the true malicious and unjust quality of the proceedings
which have been so long carvied un against me. |

This unreasonable, unjust, and cruvel inierposition of his
Royal Highuess, as I must ever deem it, has prevailed upon
your Majesty to recal, to my prejudice, your gracious purpose
of receiving me, in pursuance of the advice of your servants,—
Do 1, then, flatter myself too much, when 1 feel assured, that
my just entrealy, founded upon the reasons which T urge, and
directed to counteract only the effect of that unjust interposition,
will induce your Majesty to retu%n your original determina-
tion ?

Restored, however, as I should feel myself, to a state of com-
parative security, as well as eredit, by being at length permit-
ted, upon your Majesty’s gracious reconsideration of your last
determination, to have access to your Majesty ; yet, under all
the circumstances under which I should now receive that mark
and confirmation of your Majesly’s opinion of my innocence,
my character wounld not, I fear, stand cleared in the public
opinion, by tiie mere fuct of your Majesty’s reception of me.—
TEis revocation of your Majesty’s gracious purpose has flung an
additional cloud about the whole proceeding ; and the inferences
drawn in the public mind, from this circumstance, so mysterious
and so perfeetly inex plicable, upen any grounds which are open
to their knowledge, has made, and will leave so deep an impres-
sion to my prejudice, as scarce any thisng, short of a public ex-
yosure of all that has passed, can possibly ellace,

The publication of all these proceedings to the world, then,
seems (0 me, under the present circumstances (whatever re-
luctance | feel against such a measure, and however I regret the
hard ecessity which drives me to'it), to be alwost the only re-
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maining resource, for the vindication of my honour and charac-
ter. The falsehood of the accusation is, by no means, all that
will, by such publication, appear to the credit and clearance of
my character ; but the course in which the whole proceedings
have been carried on, or rather delayed, by those to whom your
Majesty referred the consideration of them, will show, that,
whatever measure of justice 1 may have ultimately received at
their hands, it is not to be suspected as arising from any merci-
ful and indulgent counsideration of me, of my feclings, or of my
case,

It will be seen how my feelings had been harassed, and my
character and honour exposed, by the delays which bave taken
place in these proceedings ; it will be seen, that the existence of
the cha ge against me had avowedly been koown to the publie,
from the 7th of June in the last year. 1 say known to the pub-
lic, because it was on that day that the Commissioners, acling,
as I am to suppose (for so they state in their Report), under the
anxious wish, that their trust should be executed with as little
publicity as possible, authorised that unnecessary insult and .
outrage upon me, as 1 must always consider it, which, how-
ever intended, gave the utmost publicity and exposure to the ex-
istence of these charges—I mean the sending two Attornies,
armed with their Lordships’ warrant, to my house, to bring be-
fore them, at once, about one half of my Household for exami-
nation. The idea of privacy, afier an act so much calculated,
from the extraordinary nature of it, td"excite the greatest atten-
tion and surprise y&ur Majesty must feel to have been impossible
and absurd ; for an attempt at secrecy, mystery, and conceal-
ment, on my part, could, under such circumstances, only have
been con-trued ioto the fearfulness of guilt,

It will appear, also, that, from that time, I heard nothing au-
thentically upon the subject till the 11th of August, when I was
furnished, by your Majesty’s commands, with the Report. The
several papers necessary to my understanding the whole of these
charge, in the authentic state in which your Majesty thought
1t proper, graciously to-djrect, that I should have them, were
zot delivered to me till the beginning of September, My aoswer
to these various charges, though the whole subject of them
Wwas new (o those whose advice 1 had recourse to, long as
that answer was necessarily obliged to be, was delivered to the
Lord Chancellor, to be forwaried to your Majesty, by the 6th
of Octaber; and from the 6th of Octoher to the S81h of January
I was kept in total iznorance of the effeci of that answer. Nui
only will all this deiay be apparect, but it will e gtncmlly
shown 10 the waorld, how your Majesiy’s Servants had, in this
Impartant business, treated your daughter-in-law, the Princess of
Wiles s _ and what measure of justice she, a female, aud a
Mrargecin sour land, ha- expericuced at their hands,

Undoubtedly against such a proceeding I have ever felt, and
still freel, an almost invincible repugnance, Lvery sentiment
of delicacy, with which afemale mind mus! shrink from the act
of bringing hefore the ]]}!lf}“l: sich charges, however conscious
of their scandal and falsity, and however clearly that scandal
and falsity may be manifes ed by the answer to those charges ; the
respect still due from me to persons employed in authority under
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your Majesty, however little respect I may have received from
them, -my duty to his Royal F ighne-s lI?n Prince of Wales,—
my regard for all the members of your august Family,—my es
teem, my duty; iny gratitude to your Majest ,—my affectionate
gratitude for all the paternal Kindness u'hirg I huve ever expe-
rienced from you,—my anxiety, not only to avoid the risk of
giving any oflence or displeasure to your Majesty, but also to fly
from every occasion of creating the slightest senipment of uneasi-
ness in the mind of your Majesty, whose huppiness it would be
the rndr: and pleasure of my life to consult, and to promote ;—
all these various sentiments have compelled me (o submit, as
long as human forbearance could endure, to ali the unfavourable
inferences which were through this delay daily increasing in the

ublic mind. What the strength and efficacy of these motives
iave been, your Majesty will do me the justice to feel, when
you are pleased, graciously to consider how long I have been
contented te suller those sus icions to exist against my inno-
cence, which the bringing before the public of my accusation,
and my defence to it, would so indisputably and immediately
have dispelled. .

The measure, however, of making these procecdings public,
whatever mode I can adopt;(considering especially the alljsulute
impossibility of sulfering any partial production of them, and
the necessity that, if for any purpose any part of them should
be produced, the whele must be brought hefore the public), re-
mains surrounded with all the objections which I have enume-
rated ; and nothing could ever have prevailed upon me, or can
now even prevail upon me, to have recourse to it, but an impe-
rious sense of indispensable duty to my futore safety, to my
present character and honour, and to the feelings, the cliaracter,
and the interests of my child. I had flattered myself, when
once this long proceeding shonld have terminated in my recep-
tion into your Majesty’s presence, that that circumstance alone
would have so strongly implied my innocence of all that had
been broughtaguinst me, as to have been perfectly sufficient for
my honeurand my security ; but acecompanied as it now must
be with the know ﬁ-dgc of the fact, that your Majesty has beca
brought to hesitate upon its propriety, and accompanied also
with the very unjustifiable observations, as they appear to me,
_on which I shall presently proceed to remark ; and which were
made by your Majesty’s servants, at the time when they gave
you their advice to receive me ; I feel myself ina situation, in
which 1 deeply regret that I cannot rest, in silence, without ar
immediate reception into your Majesty’s presence; nor, indeed,
with that reception, unless it be attended by other circum-
ptances, which may mark my satisfactory acquittal of the
charges which have been brought against me.

1t shall at ne time be said, with truth, that 1 shrunk back from
these infamous charges; that 1 erouched before my enemies; and
courted them, by my submission, into moderation! No, 1 have
ever boldly defied them. 1 have ever felt, and still feel, that,
if they should think, either of pursuing these accusations, or of
bringing forward any other which the wickedness of individuals
may devise, to affect my honour (since my conscience tells me, that
they must be as base and groundless as those brought by Lady

L]



77

Douglas), while the witnesses to the innocence of my conduct
are all living, 1 <hould be able to disprove them all, and, who-
ever may be my accusers, to trinmph over their wickedness and
malice,  Bnt siould these accusatious be renewed ; or any other
be brought forward, at any future time, death may, 1 know
not how soon, remove from my innocence its best security, and
dejjrh't- me of the meaus of my justification, and my defence.
l'here are therefore other measures, which L trust your Ma-
Jesty will think indispensable to be taken, for my honour, and
for my security. Amoungst these, 1 most humbly submit te your
Majesty my most earnest entrealies that the proceedings, in-
cluding not only my first answer, and my letter of the 8Bth of
December, but this letter also, may be directed by your Ma-
Jesty to be so preserved and deposited, as that they may, all of
them, securely remain permanent authentic documents and me-
morials of this accusation, and the manver in which I met it ;
of my defence, as wellas of the charge. That they may remain
capable at any time of being resorted to, if the malice which
produced the eharge originally, shall ever venture to renew it,

Beyond thos, L am sarve your Majesty will think it but proper,
and just, that I sheuld be vestored, in every respect, te the same
sitnation, from whence the proceedings, under these false charges,
have removed me. That, hesides being graciously received
again into the hosom of your Majesty’s Royal Family, restored
to my furmer respect and station amongst them, your Majesty
will be graciously pleased, cither to exert” your influence with
his Royval Highuess the Prince of Wales, that I may be restored
to the use of my apartment in Carlion-house,which was reserved
for me, except while the apartmeuts were undergoaing repair,
till the date of these proceedings ; or to assign to me some apart-
ment in eine of your Royal Palaces. Some apartinent in or near
to Lond ons indispe:sably necessuryfor iny cenvenient altend-
ance al the Drawing-room, Awmlif I am not restored-to that at
Carlroe=house, 1 trust your Majesty will graciously perceive,
how reasonable it iz, that I should request, that some apartment
should be assigned to me, suited to my diznity and situation,
which may mark my reception and ackuowledgment, as one of
{]uur Majesty’s family, and from which my attendance at the

raw ing-rooin may be easy and convenient, '

If thess measures are taken, I should hope that they would
prove satisfactory to the public mind, and that I may feel my-
gelf fully restored in public estimation to my former character,
And should they prove so satisfactory, 1 shall indeed be de-
lighted to think, that no farther step may, even now, appear
to he necessary, to my peace of mind, mny security, and my
hooour. :

But your Majesty will permit me to say, that if the next
wesk, which will make more than a month from the (ime of
your Majesiy’s infurming me that you would receive me, should
pass without my being received into your presence, and with-
oat haviog the assurancé that these other requests of mine shall
e i'nrnpi:rd Vi EI-I1 [ =hall be under the p:liuful necessity g]f Ciil=
sidefitg them as refused, In which case, 1 shall feel myself
compelicd; however reluctantly, to give the whole of these 'prg.

G J
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ceedings to the world ; nnless your Majesty. ean sugeest other
adequate means of securing my honour and my life, from the
effect of the continnance or renewal of these proceedings, for
the futire, us well as the present.  For I entreat your Ma-
jesty o believe, that it is only in the absence of all other ade-
qunate means, that I can have resort to that measure : that §
consider it with deep regret; that b regard it with serious ap-
prehension, by no means so much on account of the effect it
way have upon myself, as on account of the pain which it may
give to your Majesty, your august Family, and your layal sub-
jects,

’ As far as myself am concerned, 1 am aware of the ohserva-
tious to which this publicatien - will expose me; but 1 wm
placed in a sitwation in which 1 have the choice of only two
wost unpleasant alternatives ; and [ am pertectly confideat that
the imputations and the loss of eharacter which must, under
these circumstances follow from my silence, are most injurious
and unavoidable,—that my silence under sueh circumsiances,
must lead iuevitably to my ntter infamy and ruin.  The publien-
tion, on the other hand, will expose to the world unthing,
which is spokento by any witness (whase infamy and discredit is
not unanswerably exposed and established) which can, in the
slightest degree, affect my character, for hon ur, virtue, and
delicacy.

There may becircumstances disclosed, manifesting a degree of
condestension and  familiarity in my behaviour and conduct,
which, in the opinions of many, may be covsidered as rot suf-
ficiently glmrﬂel‘ﬂ dignified, and reserved 3 circumstances, how-
ever, whichmy foreigneducation, and foreign hahiis, mi-led me
to think, in the humble and retired sifuation in which it was
my fate to live, and where I had pe relation, no equal,
no friend to advise me, were wholly free from offence. But
when they have been dragged forward, from the scencs of pri=
vate life, in a grave proceeding on a cliarge of high treason and
adultery, they seem to derive a coleur and character, from the
nature of the charge w*ich they are bronght forward to sup-
port ;3 and I cannot but believe, that they have been used for
no other purpose, than to afford a cover, to sereen from view
the injustice of that charges that they have been taken advan-
tage of, to let down my accusers more geotly 3 and to deprive
me of that full acguittal on the Report aof the four Lords, which
my innocence of all olfence most jutly entitled me to receive.

Whtever npiniun. however, may be formed upon any part
of my conduct, it must in justice be formned, with reference to
the sitmation in wiich 1 was ]I|i'l[,‘i!tf. If T am _ii.ldgl':l uf ns
Princess of Wales, with reference to the high rank of that
station, 1 must be judged as Princess of Wales banished from
the Prince, unprotected by the support and countenance which
belong to that station 3 and if 1 am judged of in my private
chiaracter, as a warried woman, I must be jndged of as a wife
banished from her hushand, and Living in a wi 'lewed seclasion
frum him, and retirewent from the world,  This last considera-
tion | ads me to recur to an expression in Mys. Lisle’s examina-
tion, which descrihes mny conduct, in _the frequency and the
maunner of my seceiving the visits of Captain Maoby, though
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always in the presence of my ladies, as unbecoming a ma;rried.
woman. Upon the extreme injustice of setting up the opinion
of one woman, as it were, in judgment upon the conduct of
another; as well as of estimating the conduct of a person in
my unfortunate situation, by reference to that, which might in
general be expected from a married woman, living happily
with her husha:d, 1 have before generally remarked. But he-
yond these general remarks in forming any estiinate of my con-
duct, your Majesty will never forget the very peculiar circum=
stanees and misfortunes of my situation, Your Majesty will
remember, that 1 had eot been much above a year ia this
country, when I received the following letter fiom his Royal
Highuoess the Prince of Wales.®,

The date of his Royal Highuness’s letter is the 30th of April,
1796. The date of eur marriage, your Mijesty will recollect, is
the 8th day of April, in the year 1795, and that of the birth of
our only child the 7th of Jan. 1796, :

* LETTER FROM THE PRINCE OF WALES TO THE.
PRINCESS OF WALES.

¢ Mapay,—As Lord CaroLMoNpELEY informs me that ypu
“ yish I would define in writing* the terms upon which we
“ are to live, I shall endeavour to explain myself upon that
““ head with as much clearness and as much Fr‘upriety as the na-,
“ ture of the subject will admit, Our inclinations are not in,
““ our power, nor should either of us be held answerabhle to the,
* pother, hecause nature has not made us suitable to each other,
* Tranquil and comfortahle society, however is in our power..
*“ Let our intercourse, therefore, be restricted to that; and I
“ willdistinctly subscribe to the conditiont which you required,
_ % through Lady CroLytoNDELEY, that even in the event of any.
“ accident happening to my daughter, which I trust Providence.
“ inits mercy will avert, I shall not infringe the ferms of the
** restric.ion, by propoesing at any period a conoection of a.
** more particular nature. I shall now finally close this disa-,
“¢ greeable correspondence, trusting that as we haye completely,

% The substance of this letter had been previously canve;red-:
in a message through Lady CrovLyMoxneLEY to her Royal High-
ness; hut it was thought by her Royal Highness to He infinitely
too important to rest merely upon a verbal communication, und,
. therefore she desired that his [toyal Highness’s pleasure upon it
should be communicated to her in writing,

+ Upon the receipt of the message alluded to in the foregoing
note, her Hoyal Highness, though she had nothing.to do but to
rubmit to the arrangement which his Royal Highness should de-+
termine upon, desired it might be understocd, that she should
insist that any such arrangement, if once made, should be con-
sidered as final ; and that his Royal Highness should not retain
the right, from time to time, at his pleasure, or under any cir-
cumsiances, to alter it,
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On e letter of his Royal ighness T offer no comment, 1
anly entreat your Majesty not 1o voderstand me to introduce it,
as affording any supposed justification or excuse, for the least
depafriure from the strictest lme of virtae, or toe sliehte-t de-
viation fiom the most refined delienev, The erime. which has
been insinunted against me, would be ejeally erimim) ond de-
testable; the indelicacy iwputed to me would cqua ly odions and
abominable, whatever renuuciation of conjueal authority and
affection the above letter of his Royal Highness might, in any
construction of i1, be supposad to have conveyed.  Sueh crimes,
and faults, derive oot their guilt from the consideration of the
conjugal virtues of the individual, who may be the most injured
by tliem, however much such virtuwes may aggravate their enor-
mity. No suchletier, therefore, in any construction of it, no
reneaciation of conjugal sffection or dutivs; coud ever palliate
them. But whether conducet free from all erive, (ree from alk

¢ explained ourselvesto each other, the rest of our lives will
‘¢ be past inuninterrupted |ranqmllit‘i,'.
¢ With great truth and sincerity. your’:

t Windsor Castle, April 3, 1746. “ GEORGE P.”
L1
ANSWER.

“ The avowal of your conversation with Lord CroLymoNDE-,
“ LEY neither surprises nor offends me, It merely confirmed.
“ what you have tacitly insinvated for this twelvemonth. But,
¢ after this, it would be a want of delicacy, or rather, an un-,
“ worthy meanness in me, were L'to complain of those condi-,
“ tions which you impose upon youorself,

¢ 1 should have re:urned no auswer to your létter, if it had,
¢ pot heen canceived in terms to mike it doubitful whether this,
¢ arrangement proceeds from you or irom me; and you are
“ aware that the credit of it belongs to you alone, g

“ The letter which you anuounce to me as tie last, obliges me,
“ to communicate lo the Kixg, as to my Sovereign, and my
« Father, both your avowal and my answer, You will find,
« enclosed the copy of ny letter to the King. T apprise yon of
¢ jt, that-I may not incur the slightest reproach of duplicit
“ from.you. As 1 have at this moment no protector but his
¢ Masesty, 1 refer myself solely to hiw upon this subject 3
¢ apd if my conduct meets his approbation, 1 shall be in some
“ degree, at least, consoled. 1 reiain every sentiment of grati-
st tude for the situation in which 1 find myself, as Princess of
4 War:s, enabled by your means to indulge inthe free exer-
¢ cise of a virwe dear to iny heart,—1 mean charity

¢« It wiltbe my dwiy lKkewise to act upon another motive—
¢ that of giving an example of patience and resignation under
“ every trial.

¢ Do me the jnstice to believe that I shall never cease to pray -
¢ for your happiness, and to be -

¢ Your much devoted ‘
¢ Gth of May, 1796. “ CAROLINEL.
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indelicacy (which Imaintain to be the character of the conduct to
which Mrs. Lisle’s observationsapply), yet |msaihlg not so mea-
sured, as a cautious wife, careful to avoid the slightest appear-
ance of not preferring her husband to all the world, might be
studious to observe.  Whether conduct of such description, and
pussibly, in such sense, not becoming a married woman, could
be justly deewed, inmy situation, an eoffence in me, 1 must leave
to your Majesty to determine.

Lo muking that determination, however, it will not escape
your Majesty to cousider, that the conduct which duves or does
pot become a married woman, malterially depends upon what
is or isnot known by her to be agreeable to her hushand, Hj
pleasure and Lappiness ought, unquestionably, to be her law’;
and his approbation the most favourite object of ber parsuit,
Different characters of men, require dilferent modes of conduct
in their wives; but when a wife can no longer be capable of
perceiving from (ime to time what is agreeable or vlfensive to
lier husband—when her conduct can no longer contribute to_his
Lappiness, no longer hope to be rewarded by his ap probation—
surely to examine that eonduct by the standard of what ought
in geueral 1o be the conduct of a married wowan, is altogether
unreasonable aud unjust, a

W hat, then, is my case ? Your Majesty will do me the jus-
tice to remark, that, in the above letter of the Prince of Wales,
theie is not the most distant surmise, thit crime, that vice, that
indelicacy of any description, gave occasion to his determina-
tion; and all the tales of wfamy and discredit, which the in-
veniive walice of my enemies has brought forward on these
charges, have their date, years and years afier the period to
which I am npw alludiog. Yhat, then, let me repeat the
question, is my case ? After the receipt of the above letter, and
in about two jears from my arrival in this country, I had the
misfortune entirely to lose the support, the countenance, the
protection of my hiushand—1 was banished, as it were, into a
sort of bomble retirement, at a distance from him, and almost
estranged from® the whole of the Royal FFamily. I bhad ne
means of having recourse, either for society or advice, to those,
from whom my inexperience could have best received the ad-
vantages of the one, and with.-whom I could, must becomingly,
have enjoyed the comforts wf the other; and if in this retired,
uoassisied, unprotected state, without the check of a hustand's
authority, withont the benefit of bi advice, without the con-
fort and support of the society of his Family, a stranger to the
L bits and fashions of this country, Lshould in any instance, un-
der the influsnce of foreign habits, and foreign education, have
vbserved a conduct, in any degree deviating from the reserye
and severity of British manners, and partaking of a condescen-
sion and familiarity which that reserve and severily would pers
haps deem beneath the digunity of my exalted rank, 1 feel con=
fident (since such deviation will be seen to have beeu ever con-
sistent with perfeet ionucence), that not only your Majesty’s
candour and mdulgence, but the candour and indulgence which,
nolwith-tanding the reserve and severity of British manners,
always belong (o the British public, will never visit it with se
yerity or censure,
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Tt remains for me now to make seme remarks upon the Murs
tier contents of the paper, which wus transmitted to e by the
Lord Chaneellor on the 28th ubt, 3 and I cannot in passing, omit
to remark, that that paper lias neither title, date, signiture,
nor attestation : and unless the Lord Chancellor had accompa-
nied it \\1t1[ a note, stating that it was copivd in his own hn‘ﬁ'rl
from the origioal, which his Lordship had yeeceived from your
Majesty, T should have been ai i loss to have perceived any
single maik of autbenticity belonging to it 5 and as it i<, § an
wholly unable to discover what is the trae character which does
helong 1o it. It contains, indeed, the advice which vour Ma-
jesty’s Servants have offered to your Majesty, and the Mesage
which, according to thut advice, your Mujesty direcied to be
delivered to me.

f-uumlrru}g it, therefore, whaolly as their act, your Majesty
Wiil excuse and pardon me, if deeply injured as' 1 feel myself
to have been by them, 1 capress myseif with freedam upen
their conduct. L may speak perhaps with warmth, because I
am pravoked by a sense of gross injustice—1I <hall speak cer-
tainly with firmiess and with covrage, because I am emboldencd
by a sense of conscions innocence,

Your Majesty’s confidential servantz say, ** they agree in the
opinions of the four Lerds;” and they say this, ** afier the
fullest considerition of my observations, and of the afidavits
Wwhich were annexed to them.,” Some of the-e opiniens, your
Majesty will recollect, are, that * William Cole, Fanny
Lloyd, Robert Bidgood, and Mrs, Lisle, are witnesses who
caonot,”’ inthe judgzment of the four Lords, ** be suspecied of
any unfavourable bias;” and ** whose veracity in this respect
they had secn no ground to question;” and that the circum--
slauce to which they speak, particularly as relating to Captain
Manby, must bie credited until they are decisively contradict-
ed.” Am I, then, to understand your Majestyv’s confidential
servants to miean, that they agree with the fiur Noble Lords in
these opinions? Am 1 to understand, that, after. baving
read with the fuilest consideration, the vbh:eivations which
I have offered to your Majesty ; after having seen William
Cole there proved to have submitted himselr five times, at
least, to private, unauthorised, voluntary exawmination, by
Sir John Douglas’s Solicitor, for the express purpo-e of von-
firming the statement of Lady Douglas, (of that Lady
Douglas, whose statement and depssiticn they are convinced
to be so malicious and fulse; that they propuse to institute such
prosccution against her, as your Majesty’'s Law Oflicers may
advise, upona reference, now at length, aflter six months from
the detection of that malice and falsehood, intended to be
made)—after having scen (his William Cole submitting te such
repeated voluntary examinations for such a purpose, and al-
though he was all that time a servadi on my establi-hment, and
eating my bread, yet never once commuricating to mc thitsuch
examinations were going on—am I to understand. that your
Majesty’s coufidential servants agree with the four Lords in
thioking, that he cannot, under such {'irnlmstaucb‘,_h suspect
ed of unfavourable bias ? That after having had pointed vut 1o
them the direct, flat contradiction between the same Willium
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Cole and FPanny Lloyd, they nevertheless agree (o think (hem
both (though in contradiction to each other, yet both) witnesses
whose veracily they see no ground to guestion? Afier haying
seen Famny Lloyd directly and positively m‘ntr{mdlcml in an as-
sertion most injurions to my honour, by Mr. Mills and Mr, Ed-
meades, do they agree in opinion with the four Noble Lords, that
they see no ground o question their veracity?  After having read
the observations on Mr. Bidg.od’s evidence—after having seen,
that he had the hardihood (o swear, that he believed Captain
Maoby slept in my house, at Southend ; and to insinuate lhat_ he
slept in my bed-room—after having seen that he founded him-
self on this maost false fact, and most fou!l and wicked insinua-
tion, upon the circumstance of observing a’ hason and some
towels where he thought they ought not to be placed—after
having seen that this fact, and this insinuation, were disproved
hefore the four Noble Lords themselves, by two maid=servants,
who, at that time, lived with me at Southend, and whose duties
about my person and my apartments wust have made them ac-
quainted with this fact, ns asserted, or as insinuated, if it had
bappened—after having observed, too, in confirmation of theie
tesiimeay, that one of them mentioned the name of another fe-
male servant (who was not examined), who had, from her situa-
tien, equal meaps of Knowledge with (hemsslves,—I ask whe-
ther, afier all this decisive weight of contradiction to Hobert
Bidgood's testimony, T am to understand your Majesty’s confi-
dential servants to agree with the four Noble Lords in thinking,
that Mr. Bidgoad 15 a witness who canno! be suspecled uf un-
favourable bias, und that there is no ground {o question his ve-
racityi—1If, Sire, 1 were to go through all the remarks of this
description which occar to me to make, I shauld be obliged to
repeat nearly all my former observations, and to make (his let-
ter aslong as my original answer ¢ but to that answer | confi-
deutly appeal, and L will venture to challenge your Majesty's
confidential servants to find a single impariinl aod bonoursble
man, anconnected in feeling and interest with the parties, and
ancounccted in Council with these who Lhave already pledged
themselves to an opicien upon this subject, who wiil lay his
hind npon his heart, and say, that these three witnesses, on whom
that Report so wainly relies, are not to be suspected of the
grossest partiality, and that their veracity is vot esi funda=
menially impeached. - :

Yas it, then, nobl®, was it genérous, was it manly, was it
just, in your Majesty’s confideptial servants, in-tead of fairly
admitting the injusiice which had been, inadverteutly, and ui-
intentionally, no douht, done to me by the four Noble Lords, in
their Heport, upon the evidence of these witves-cs, to stite 10
your Majesty, that they agree with these Noble Lords in theiyp
opinion, though they cannot, it scems, go the length of agreea
inz any longer to witkhold the advice, which rostores me 10
your Majesty’s presence? And with respect to the particulars
to my prejuedice, remarked upon in the Report as those ** which
jastly drserve the most serious consideration, and which must
be credited till decisively contradicted,” instead of fuirly avow-
ing, either that there was originally no pretence for such a re-
mark, or thal, if there bad been originally, yet that my an-
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swer had given thal decisive contradiction which was sufficient
to discredit them ;—instead, I say, of acting this just, honest,
and open part, to take no notice whatsoever of those contra-
dictions, and contert themselves with sayiog, that ** none of the
facts or allegations stated in preliminary examinations, carried
on in the absence of the parties interested, could be cousidered
as legally or conclusively established ;"

They agree in the opinion that the facls or allegations, though
stated in preliminary examinatien, carried on in the absence of
the parties interested, must be credited till decisively contradicted,
and deserve the most serious consideration. They read with the
fullest consideration, the contradiction which I have tendered 1o
them ; ‘they must have knowp, that no other sort of contradic-
tion could, by possibility, from the natare of things, have been
offered upon such subjecis: they do not question the {ruth, they
do not point out the insufficiency of the contradiction, but in
loose, general, indefinite terms, referring to iny answer, con-
Bisting, as it doesy of above two hundred written pages, and
coupling it with Jhose examinations (which they admit esta-
blish nothing against an ahsent party), they advise your Ma-
jesty, that, ** there appear many circumstances of conduct,
which could not be regarded by your Majesty without serious
concern :”’ and that, as (o all the other facts and allegations, ex=
cept those relative to my pregnancy and delivery, they are not
to be considered as ** legally and conclusively established,” be-
capse spoken to in preliminary examinations, not carried on in
the presence of the parties concerned. They do not, indeed,
expressly assert, that my eontradiction was not decisive or satis-
factorv ; they do not expressly state, that they think the facts
and allegations want nothing towards their legal and conrlusive
estahlishment, but a re-examination in th2 presence of the par-
ties interested ; but they go far to imply such opiniens, That
those epinions are utterly umtenable, against the obzervations I
have made, upon the credit and character of those witiesses, T
shall ever most coutidently maintain g but that those observi-
tions leave their eredit wholly unaffected, and did not deserve
the least notice from your Majesty’s servants, it is impossible
that any honourable man can assert, or aony fair and unpreju-
diced mind believe,

I now proceed, Sire, to nbserve, very shortly, upon the ad-
vice Farther given te your Majesty as contained in the remaining
part of the paper; which has represented, that, both in the
examinations, and even in my answer, there have appeared
many circumstances of conduct whicl could not be regarded but
with serious concern, and which bave suggested the expression
of & desire and expectation, that such a conduct may in future
be abserved by e, as may fully justify those marks of paternal
regard and affecii 'm, wii¢a your Majesty wishes (o show to all
your Ruyal Family. : ; :

Aud heve, Sire, your Majesty will graciously permit me fo
notice the hardship of the advice, which has suggested to your
Majesty, to convey tome this reproof. 1 complain not so much
for what it doez, as for what it does nnl contain I_mean the
absence of all particular mention of what it is that is the ob-
ject of their blame, The circumstances of contuct which ap-

#



85

=

ear in these examinations, and in my answer (o which they.
allude s those which may be supposed to I|uat1|f_v EIIB- advice
whici: has led to thig' reproof, siuce your Majesty’s servaots
have not particularly mentioned them, I cannot be certain that
1 know. Rut 1 will venture coufidently to repeat the assertion,
which [ have already made, that there are no cll'cuiu?I::Tlc_t’:s
of conduct spoken to by any witness (whose inﬁpug.r and discredit
are not unanswerably exposed, and established), nor any
where appurent in my answer which have the remotesl ap-
proach, either to crime or to indelicacy. :

For my future conduct, Sire, impressed with every sense of

ratitude for all former kinduness, I shall be bound unques-
tionably, by sentiment as well as duty, to study your Maiesty’s
pleasure. Any advice which your Majesty may wish to give
to me in respect of any particulars in my conduct, [ shall be
bound, and be anxious to ohey as my law, But I must trust
that yvour Majesty will point out to me the particulars which
may happen to displease you, and which you may wish to have
aitered. I shall be as happy, in thus feeling myself safe from
blame under the beuefit of your Majesty’s advice, as I am now
in finding myself secured from danger, under the protection of
your justice.

Your-Majesty will permit me to add ene word more,

Your Majesty has seen what detriment my character has, for
a time sustained, by the false and malicious statement of Lady
Douglas, and by the depositions of the witnesses who were
examined in support of her statement. Your Majesty has seen
haw many enemies I have, and how little their malice has been
restrained by any regard to truth in the pursuit of my roin.—
Few, as it may be hoped, may be the instances of such deter-
mined and unprovoked malignity : yet, I cannot flatter myself,
that the world does not produce other persons, who may be
swayed by similar motives to similar wickedness. Whether
the statement to be prepared by the Prince of Wales, is o be
confined to the old charges, oris intended to bring forward
new circamstances, | cannot tell; but if any fresh attempts of
the same nature shall be made by my accusers, instructed as
they will have been, by their miscarriage o this instance, I
can hardly hope that they will not renew their charge, with an
improved artifice, more skilfully directed, and with a malice
inflamed rather than abated, by their previous disappointment,
I therefore can only appeal to your Majesty’s justice, in which
I confidently trust, that whether (hese chargesare to be re-
newed agaiust mne, either vn the old or on fresh evidence ; or
whether new accesations, as well as new witnesses, are to be
brought forward, your Majesty, after the experience of these
Erurwding:, will not suffer your Royal mind 1o be prejudiced

y exr-pariezecret examinations, nor my characler to be whis=;
pered away by in-iouations,orsuggesticnswhich I have no oppor-*
tunity of ineeting.  Liany charge, which the law will recognise,
should be hroughtagain-t me in an open and legal mauer, I should
have no right to complain, nor any apprehension to meet it.
Bat 1ill 1 may. bave a full npportunity of so meeting it, I
trust your Majesty will not suffer it to excite even a suspicion

H
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to my prejudice, T must claim the Lenefit of the presumptien of
innocence, till I am praved to be gnilty 5 for, without that pre-
sumption, against the élfects of secret iliainualiun. and ex-parts
examinations, the purest innocence can make no defence, and
can have ne security, -

Surrounded, as it is now proved that I have been, for years
by domestic spies, your Majesty must, I trust, feel convinced,
that if T had been guilty, there ceuld not have been wanting
evidence to have proved my guilt; and that these spies have
been obliged to have resort to their own invention, for the sup-
port of the charge, is the strongest demonstration, that the
truth, undisguised, and correctly represented, could furnish
them with no handle against me, Arnd when I consider the na-
ture and malignity of that conspiracy, which, I feel confident,
I have completely detected and exposed, 1 cannot but think of
that detection with the liveliest gratitude, ns the special bless-
ing of Providence, who, by confounding the machinatioys of
my enemies, has enabled me to find, in the very excess and ex-
travagaoce of their malice, in the very weapons which they fa-
bricated aad sharpened for my destruction, the sufficient guard
to my innvecnce, and the effectual means of my justification aod
defence. .

1 trust,therefore, Sire, that T may row cloze this long leiter,
in confidence thot many days will not elapse before 1 shall re-
ceive fron your Majesty, that @ssurance thal my just requests
may be so completely granted, as may render it possible fur me
(which nothing else can) to avoid the painful disclosure to the
world of all the circumstances of that injustice, and of thuse
unmerited sufferings which these proceedings, in the manper in
whiich they have been conducted, have brought upon me.

1 remain, Sire, with every sentiment of graiitade,
Your Majesty’s most dutiful, most submissive Daughter-in-luw,
Subject, and Servaunt,
(Signed) C. P.
Mentague-house, Feb. 16, 1807. . \

As (he e observations apply tot only to the official communi-
caiion through the Lord Chancellor of the 28th ult. but also to
e private letter of your Majesty, of the 12th instant, 1 hav'e
thought it most respectful to your Majesty, and your Majesty|s
Servants, to send this letter in duplicate, one part through Co .
Tavlor, and the other through the Lord Chancellor, to your

S Re the ik, (Signed) C. P.
———

Letters addressed by her Royal Highness the

Princess of Wales to the Ring. .

¥YURTHER DOCUMENTS—=NOT IN THE BOOK.
LETTER ADDRESSED BY HER ROYAL HIGHNESS THE
PRINCESS OF WALES TO THE KING.
¢« SinE,—In discharge of the duty T owe to mysclf, and the
great duty I owe to your Majesty and your Lllustrious Family,

.-,l-' 4
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T kave heérewith transmitted 4 statement * which I confideally
trust willappear to prove me not unworthy of the protection
and favour with which your Majesty has pleased to honour me,

¢ Ta be restored to that favour and protectian, in consequence
of a cooviction in your Majesty’s mind of my innocence, prod
duced by the papers [ now humbly lay before your Majesty, is -
the first wish of my heart.

¢ Grieved, Sire, deeply grieved as I cannot but be, that your
Majesty should be exposed to so much trouble on se painful an
occasion, and on my account, it is yetmy humble trust that your
Majesty will graciously forgive me, if extreme anxiety about
my honour, and your Majesty’s favourable opinion, leads me
humbly to selicit, as an act of justice, that scrupuleus atiention
on your Majesty’s part to these papers, which cannot fail, 1
think, to produece in your Majesty’s miad, a full conviction of
my innoeence, and a due sepse of the injuries I have suffered,

““ One other prayer I with all {ﬂﬁﬁlbie humility and anxiety
address to your Majesty, that, as 1 can hope for no happiness,
nor expect to enjoy the benefit of that fair reputation to which
I koow I am entitled, till T am re-admitted into your Majesty’s
presence, and as 1 am in truth without gu_ilt, suffering what
tn me is heavy punishment, whilst 1 am denied access toyour
Maiesty, your Maje-ty will be graciously pleased to form an
early determination whether my conduct and my sufferings do
not authorise me to hope that "the blessing of being restored to
your Majesty’s presence may be conferred upon, Sire, your Ma-
fﬁt] s dutifully atiached, affectionate, and afflicted daughter-in=
aw and subject, Pt

(Signed) ““ CAROLINE.

“ Blackheath, Oct, 2, 1806."

HER ROYAL HIGHNESS THE PRINCESS OF WALESR
TO THE KING.

¢ Siag,—I received yesterday, and with inexpressible pain,
vour Majesly’s last verbal communication. The duty of stating,
n a representation to your Majesty, the various grounds upon
which I feel the hardships of my case, and upon which, 1 cone
fidently think, that upon a review of it, your Majesty will be
distpo-;ed to recal your last determination, is one 1 owe te my-
gelf ; and I cannot forbear, at the moment when I acknowledge
the receipt of your Majesty’s letter, to announce to your Ma-
Jjesty, that T propose to execute that duty without delay.

¢ After having suffered the punishment of banishment from
your Majesty's presence for seven months, pending an enquiry
which your Majesty had directed to be made inio my conduct,,
affecting both my LIFE and my honour. _Afler that enqcuir}r had
at length terminated in the advice of your Majesty’s Confiden-
tial and Sworn Servants, that there was no longer any reason for
_ your Majesty's declining-to receive me. After your Majesty’s

* The statement here referred to is that drawn up by Mr
Perceval, Lord Fldon, and Sir T. Plomer, as her Royal Highe
mesw’s Defence,.—~We gave an abstract of it yesterday.
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iqmciﬂ“! communication, which Ied me to rest assured that your’
ajesty would appoint an early day to receive me. If, after all
this, by a renewed application on the part of the Prince of
Wales (upon whose communications the first enquiry had been
directed), I now find, that fhat punishment to which I had.
been condemned during that same seven months’ enquiry previ-
ous to the determination in my favour, should, contrary to the
opinion of your Majesty’s Servants, be contineed after that de-
termination, to await the result of some new proceeding, fo be
suggested by the Lawyers of the Prince of Wales, it is impossible
that 1 can fail to assert to your Majesty, with the effort due to
trauth, that 1 am, in the consciousness of my own innocence, and
with a strong sense of my zmmegi.'!eﬂ! sufferings,
t¢ Bire,
“ Your Majesty’s most dutiful and affectionate,
*“ But much injured, Subject and Daughter-in-Law,
(Signed) “ CAROLINE.

“ Montague-house, Blackheath, Feb. 22, 1807."

COPY OF A LETTER ADDRESSED BY THE PRIN-
CESS OF WALES TO THE KING.

Sire,—When I last trovbled yonr Majesty upon my un-
fortunate business, T had raised my mind to hepe that I should
have the happiness of hearing from your Majestv, and receiving
your gracious commands to pay my duty in your Royal presence
before the expiration of the last week ; and, when that hope
was disappoinied, eagerly clinging to any idea which ofiered me
a prospect of being saved from the necessity of having recourse
(for the vindieation of wy character) to the publication of the
proceedings upon the enquiry into my conduct, T thought it just
to suppose, that the reason for my not having received your
Majesty's commands to that effect mizht have Leen occasioned
by the circumstance of your Majesty’s stayving at Windsor
through the whaole of the week. 1, fherefore, determined 1o
wait a few days longer before | tock astep which, when once
taken, counld not be recalled. Having, hqwever, now assured
myself that your Majesty was in town yesterday,—as 1 have re-
ceived no commands to wait upon your Majesty, and no intima-
tion of your Majesty’s pleasure,—1I am reduced to the necessity
of abandaning all hope that your Majezsty will comply with my
humble, v earnest, and anxions request, ' .

Your Majesty, therefore, will not be surprised to find that the
publication of the proceedings alluded to will not be withheld
bevond Monday next, .

As to any consequences which may arise from such publica-
tion, unpleasant and hurtful to my own feelings and interests, —
I may perhaps-be properly responsible,—and in any evest have
no one to complain of, but myself, and those with whose adyice
1 have acted ; and whatever those consequences may be, I am
fully and unalterably convinced that they must be incalcalably
less than those Whiﬂ'l:l"] should be exposed to from my silepce, —
But as to any other consequences, unpleasant or hurtful (o the
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feelings and interesis of otéers, or of the public, my conscienceé
will certainly acquit me of those, _ . g

I am confident that [ have not acted impatiently or precipi-
tately., To avoid coming to this painful extremity, 1 have taken
every step in iny power, except that which would abandon my
character to utter infamy, and my station and life to no uncer-
tain danger, and possibly to no very distant destruction.

With every prayer for the lengthened continnance of your
Majesty’s health and happiness, for every possible blessing
which a gracions God can bestow upon the beloved Monareh
of a loyal people, and for the continued prosperity ef your do-
minions, under your Majesty’s propitious reign,

I remain,
Your Majesty's most datiful, loyal and affectionate,
But most unahppy and most injured,

Daughter-in-law, servant, and subject,
(Signed) CAROLINE.

!:lualEﬂguz-hﬂusepmackheﬂh, March 4, 1807.
—

Taz KING'S LETTERS 1o T PRINCESS or WALES
Afier the Repert, the Princess wiﬁhinF as early as possihle to
avail berself of her right to present herselt personally to his Ma-
Jestv, wrole to say that she would wait on his Majesty at Wind-
sor. This note produced the following communications from
s AMajesty : —
¢ Windsor Castle, Jan. 29, 1807.
‘¢ The King has this moment received the Princess
of Wales’s letter, in which she intimates her inten-
tion of coming to Windsor on Monday next; and
his Majesty not wishing to put the Princess to
the inconvenience of coming to this place, so im-
mediately after her illness, hastens to acquaint her,
that he shall prefer to receive her in London upon a
day subsequent to the ensuing week ; which will
also better suit his Majesty, and of which he will not

fail to apprise the Princess.
(Signed) “GEORGE R.”

¢ To the Princess of Wales.”

-

“ Windsor Casile, Feb. 10, 1807,
““ Asthe Princes of Wales may have been led to
expect, from the King’s letter to her, that he would
fix an early day for seeing her, his Majesty thinks it
right to acquaint her, that the Prince of Wales,
upon receiving the several documents which the

1‘*;44-'
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King directed his Cabinet to transmit to him, made
a formal communication to him, of his intention to
put them into the hands of his Lawyers ; acompanied
by a request, that his Majesty would suspend any
further steps in the business, until the Prince of
‘Wales should be enabled to submit to him the state-
ment which heproposed to make. The King, there-
fore, considers it incumbent on him to defer naming
a day to the Princess of Wales, until the farther re«

sult of the Prince’s intention shall have been made
knoewn to him.

(Signed) “ GEORGE R.
¢ To the Princess of Wales.”

e

The circumstance relating to Captain MaxsY, as
stated in Bipceon’s testimony, received the follow-

ing decisive contradiction by the affidavit of Captain
Maxgy himself:

“ 1 do solemnly, and upon my oath, declare, that the said .
passage (in Bidgood's evidence) is a vile and wicked invention ;
—that it is wholly and abselutely false ;—that it is impossible
he ever could have seen (what he swore he saw) any such thing;
as I never, upon any occasion, or inany situation, had the pre-
sumption to take that liberty, or to offer any such liberty te her
Royal Highness’s person,”

This affidavit was sworn by Captain MANBY, about
three months after the Report of the Commissioners.

iR
!

NarrATIVE oF FActs.—The indisposition of the Princess
CuArLoTTE commenced previous to the fete at Carlton-house,
and afterwards increasing, hef Royal Highness was necessarily
obliged to defer her return to Wirdsor: 1n consequence of this,
the Princess of WarLEs, onm the 8th Febrouary, addressed herself
to Lord Liverroor, desiring that he would communicate to the
Privce REGENT her Royal Highness’s intention to visit the
Princess CHArLoTTE, at Warwick=house, not anticipating the
possibility of a prevention on the part of the PriNce REGENT,
under the circumstance of the Princess CHArvLoTTE'S conline-
ment from illness, Lord Liverroor replied, that he was happy
to announce the Princess CoiArLoTre so much better, that her
Royal Highness would be able to visit the Princess of WALEs at
Kensington Palace on the fnllnwin;i Thursday, 1lth I'rl;u‘}lﬂl'f-
On that morning she received information’ that the Princess
CHARLOTTE was not permitted te go to Kensington.

Upon this, the Princess of WALES again addressed Lord Lis
vERPooL to know the reason, none having been assigned, for

o
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the Princess CuarroTTE's being thus suddenly prohibited from -

giving the meeting to her Royal Mother ; and when and how
soon her Royal Highness might expect to see the Princes
CrHARLoTTE. To thisen uirg the Princess of WALEs received
the following reply from Lerd LivErpooL :—

FURTHER DOCUMENTS.
(COPY.)

‘¢ Fife House, Feb, 14, 1813,

i« Lord Liverroor has the honour to inform your Royal
Highness, that in consequence of the publication in the Morn-
ing Chronicle, of the 10th inst, of a letter addressed by your
Royal Highness to the PriNce REGENT, his Royal Highness
thought fit, by the advice of his confidential servants, to signify
his commands, that the intended visit of the Princess CHAR-
toTTE to your Royal Highness on the following day should not
take place. .

¢ Lord Liverprootr is not enabled to make any further com-
munication to your Ru'yal Highness on the subject of yonr
Royal Highness's note.’ 2

= =

To this letter the Princess of WaLms commanded Lady Anwe
Hamruron, her Lady in Waiting, to reply as follows to Lord
LivERPOOL :—

¢ Montague-house, Blackheath, Feb. 15, 1813

“ Lady Ax¥e Hamivrow is commanded by her Royal High
ness the Princess of WALEs to represent to Lord LiveErroor,
that the insidious insinuation, respecting the publication of the
Letter addressed by the Princess of WacLes, on the 14th of Ja-
noary, to the Rrince REGENT, conveyed in his Lordship’s re-
ply to her Royal Highness, is as void of foundation, and as false,
as all the farmer accusations of the traducers of her Reoyal
Highness's honour in the year 1806,

*“ Lady A. Hasruton is further commanded to say, that dig
nified silence would have becn the line of conduct the Prin-
cess would have preserved upon such insinuation (more than un-
becoming in Lord Liverroolr), did not the effect arising from
it, operate to deprive her Royal Highness of the sole real hap-
piness she can possess in this world—that of seeing her only
Child, And the Confidential Servants of the Prince REGExT
ought to feel ashamed of their conduct towards the Princess in
avowing to her Royal Highness their advice to the Prince RE-
GENT, that u:-;mu unauthorized and unfounded sappositions a
Mother and Daughtershould be prevented from meeting—a pro-
hibition positively against the law of nature., Lady AvNe Ha-
MiLToN is commanded further to desire Lord Liverrool to lay
this paper before the Prixce RecenT, that his Royal Highness
may be aware into what error his Confidential Servants are

2 ¥ 5
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i ..-i.t; eading him, and will involve him, by counselling and signify=
_ing such commands.”’
dere ended the correspondence,

COPY OF A LETTER ADDRESSED BY THE PRINCESS OF WALES 'TO
" THE EARL OF HARROWRY,

4 : ‘¢ Feh. 27, 1813.
¢ The Princess of Wares has received reporis from varions
uarters of certain proceedings lately held by his MasesTy's
rivy Council respecting her Royal Highoess ; and tie Princess

has felt persuaded hat these reports must be unfounded, because
she could not believe it possible that any Resolution should be
taken by that Most Honourable Body in any respect affecling
her Royal Highness, upon statements which she has had po op-
portunity of answering, rrplaining, or even szeing,

“ The Princess still trusts that there is no truth in these ru-
mours ; but she feels it due to herself to lose no time in protest=
ing against any Resolution affecting her Royal Highness, which
may be so adopted,

¢ The Noble and Right Honourable Persons who are said to
have been selected for these proceedings, are (co just to decide
any lhingtuuuhinﬁher Royal Highness, without affording her
an opportunity of laying her case before them. The Princess
has not had any power to cheose the Judges before whom any
enquiry may by carried on ; but she is perfectly willing to have
her whole conduct enquired tnto by any persons who may he se-
lected by her accusers. The Princess only demands that she
‘may he heard in defence or in-explanation of lier conduct, if it
is attacked ; and that she should either be trealed as innocent, or
praved to be gnilty.” .

Lord Harrowey replied to the effect, ** That a Copy of the
Ministers Report, laid before the Prince REcExTt, had -

* transmitted tilmt same evening to the Princess of Wares, by the
“¥Yiscount Sipsouts,”

LT i ~
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